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Administrative Details of PSS (UK) 

Company registration number  PSS (UK): 214077
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 Professor Gerald Pillay (Vice Chancellor and Rector, Liverpool Hope University)
 The Earl of Derby
 Ian Meadows OBE DL 

Bankers                                                 Barclays Bank plc, Lord Street, Liverpool, L2 1TD

Solicitors                                              Brabners LLP, Horton House, Exchange Flags, Liverpool, L2 3YL

Investment managers Rathbone Investment Management Limited 
 Port of Liverpool Building, Liverpool, L3 1NW

Auditors BDO LLP, 5 Temple Square, Temple Street, Liverpool, L2 5RH 

Chief  Executive                                    Lesley Dixon 

The Trustees on the date of this report and who served during the year 2018/19 were:

Mark Rathbone  Chair 
Hilary Berg  Vice-chair
Samantha Proffitt  Honorary Treasurer 
Geoffrey Manning 
Veronica Jackson 
Angela Jones QBE HonDSc DL 
J Andrew Kellaway 
Julie Cooke 

Investment Powers and Authority

The Articles of Association place no restrictions on the amount or type of investments made by the company.  However, PSS complies 
with the restrictions placed upon it by law.

PSS is a registered charity and, as such, is not liable to Income Tax or Corporation Tax. 

The current active membership of PSS is 37.

The Trustees of the charity derive no benefit, income or capital interest from PSS (UK) (“PSS”) except for related party transactions (note 11).

PSS Charitable Objects as declared in our Articles of Association

The advancement of education, the advancement of health, the relief of poverty and the advancement of such other charitable 
purposes for the benefit of the community in such manner as the Trustees shall from time to time think fit and in particular 
(but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) by assisting individuals in need to live and/or manage their needs more 
independently. 

Our 

Administrative 
Information
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Hello and welcome to our Annual Report 18/19 – a whistle-stop 
tour of yet another busy and productive year for all our teams. 
Hopefully the wonderful stories told in the following pages will 
impress and inspire you and, as always, if you want to know any 
more about the great work we do, please do get in touch – we’re 
always happy to share what’s worked for us (and what hasn’t, too!).  

So let’s get to it… what’s been happening over the last 12 months? During the 
course of 2018/19 we’ve seen some real movement on projects that have been 
years in planning. We’re now fully embedded in our role as a national leader in the field of Shared Lives (with schemes 
as far afield as East Anglia and more recently Lincolnshire); we’ve said hello to some new services in Cheshire, the East 
of England and the Isle of Man; our systems and processes around quality and governance are second-to-none; and one 
of the biggest and most exciting changes for me and many of the team this year has been the relocation of our head 
office to a much more fit-for-purpose building: something we’ve needed to address for some time.

When we started the year we did it from a somewhat dilapidated head office building in central Liverpool – a building 
that had served us well over the years, but just wasn’t right for us anymore. We’d got to the point where broken boilers 
and leaky roofs had become a bit of a regular occurrence, and it was costing us a lot of money to maintain. But thanks 
to sky-rocketing city centre prices, our building had grown a lot in value since we bought it in the 90s (it was the land 
that had the value, not the building, you won’t be surprised to hear), and the time had come to take advantage of that. 
We wanted to invest wisely in a place that would say ‘PSS’ from the off – a place that, from the moment someone 
stepped through the doors, would give the best possible impression of our organisation. And after much searching, 
we found it – a bright, spacious office space in the Sandhills area of Liverpool with plenty of windows (the thing that 
was top of our Liverpool teams’ lists) and plenty of potential. Unlike central Liverpool, Sandhills is much closer to the 
communities we work with, so we feel like we’re really part of things. 

But good impressions aside, the change in our location is more than a feather in our cap - it provides a much better 
working environment for the 100 or so staff based in our head office (and everyone else when they visit for learning 
events or meetings). It’s also a flagship site that has strengthened our financial position even further. We’ve worked hard 
to make sure it reflects who we are and where we’re going: we’re creative, we’re modern and we believe that we can 
all (including those we support) do whatever we put our minds to. What’s more, we’re already seeing that those people 
who use our services are more relaxed, in better health and more engaged when they’re spending time with us here. 

Alongside this we’ve had a year of positive inspection results, improving internal audit scores, fabulous staff survey 
scores and new service delivery models. But the thing I’m really proud of this year is our work around raising the 
voice of the people who use our services. We’ve really worked hard to do more of this across the country – whether 
it’s management committees, new service design, everyday activity planning or the overall approach to how we co-
produce. We’re being led by people who use our services and I couldn’t be prouder of that. When it comes to listening to 
people and doing things ‘with people and not to them’, our teams are consistently asking ‘Why wouldn’t you?’ instead of 
‘Why would you?’ and that alone is something truly impactful. 

So, on reflection, this year has been about breaking moulds – about going the extra mile to look at things differently, 
making an effort not to rest on our laurels, trying new approaches and saying, in the true spirit of PSS, ‘let’s see what 
we can do’. But it’s also been a year of taking stock. This year marked 40 years of Shared Lives, now one of the fastest-
growing care models in the UK. We’ve spent some time reflecting on just how big of an impact the service, which we 
started back in 1978, has had on the lives of so many people, and how far it has come.  Not only that, but we also turned 
the big 100 this year – an exciting and rather large milestone that we’re all really proud to have reached. In January we 
kicked off a year of fabulous celebrations that we hope will do justice to our heritage, with plans we’ve been working on 
over the course of the year finally coming to fruition. 

Looking ahead, we’ve got another year of really pushing the boundaries of what’s gone before, shining a spotlight on all 
the special things we’ve been a part of and looking to the future to ask how we can make sure we’re around for future 
generations. With 100 years under our belts and many lives touched in that time, we’re doing something right. Long 
may it continue.  

Lesley

A quick welcome from 

our chief executive
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Welcome to this review of the 2018/19 year. We can hardly 
believe we’re 12 months on, but are delighted to again have this 
opportunity of sharing our teams’ great work with you. 

This year has been a year of big changes, significant 
landmarks and wider impacts -  with new work won 
in Lincolnshire and Cheshire, a big move for the team in Liverpool and the start of our 
centenary year. The projects we’ve talked about in PSS for some time have been put into 
action or are in full flow, and it’s so exciting to see our plans become realities.

As Lesley has mentioned, our new Liverpool HQ, Eleanor Rathbone House (named after our 
founder), has really put us on the map as an organisation who wants to and can do things 
differently. Although only a third of our team are based here on any given day, we hope it 
provides an environment all our staff can use whenever required – a resource for both them 
and the people who are using our services. In addition to this it has further added to our 
financial strength – a great investment that has given us security as austerity continues.

Of course an important milestone this year is our birthday – at midnight on the 1st 
January 2019 we turned 100 years young. The year is full of exciting plans to celebrate the 
organisation’s achievements, the pioneering nature of our predecessors and the impact over 
the last 36,500 days – read on to find out more, our report has much more of the detail.

So as we enter a new centenary with a strong bank balance, a fabulous head office, an ever-
expanding team of highly-skilled and passionate colleagues and a desire to keep finding 
ways to help people get the most out of life, I think we have reason to be very excited. We 
hope you feel the same.

Thank you for taking the time to find out more.

Mark

A quick overview from  

our Chair

Report of the trustees
Our governance 

PSS was formed in 1919, is a company limited by guarantee (incorporated in 1926) and registered as a charity 
in 1963. The company was established under a Memorandum of Association which established the objects and 
powers of the charitable company and is governed under its Articles of Association. Membership is open to 
anyone (subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees) who wishes to support PSS.  The members of PSS elect 
a Board of Trustees (‘the Board’) from the membership.  Those members elected as trustees also constitute the 
directors of the company.  The Board is required to include a Chair, Vice Chair and an Honorary Treasurer. 
Trustees are elected for a term of up to three years, but may be re-elected. 

In addition to the Annual General Meeting, the Board meets four times a year. It has four Sub-committees: the 
Audit and Governance Sub-committee and Finance and Performance Sub-committee which meet quarterly, the 
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Innovation Sub-committee which meets twice a year and the Remuneration Sub-committee, which meets once 
a year. The Sub-committees exist to provide a level of scrutiny to the work of PSS, for example in relation to the 
accounts or risk management or internal audit.  Each committee reports to the full Board. 

Charity Governance Code

The Board welcomed the introduction of the Charity Governance Code in 2017 and conducted an in-depth 
exercise in May 2018 to consider whether we can actively demonstrate that we are meeting these outcomes 
and have a good grasp of them. In these difficult times for the charity sector, it is ever more important for us to 
demonstrate that we understand our responsibilities, that we are accountable and that we are always looking to 
improve. A further away day was held in October 2018 to look at some aspects of the code in further detail.

•  Organisational purpose – we have timetabled a three yearly review of our governing document to ensure our 
objects and charitable purposes continue to remain valid and relevant; we have considered our statement of 
public benefit and are currently in discussion with the Charity Commission. Over the course of the year the 
Board has been reviewing the sustainability of our income and business models to ensure that we are in a 
position to deliver the best possible service to the people we support and to ensure the future sustainability of 
the organisation. This work is ongoing and continues to shape our thinking.

•  Leadership – training opportunities are identified and communicated to the Board and we have reviewed 
trustee role descriptions to ensure they reflect what we need from our Board members. In addition, we require 
our trustees to undertake regular visits to our services to ensure they have the operational insight that is 
needed to support strategic decision making and leadership; this is monitored on a quarterly basis by the 
Board. We have invested in our managers through a programme of coaching and our Leadership Naradas.

•  Integrity – We have reviewed our trustee code of conduct, the purpose of which is to maintain the highest 
standards of integrity and stewardship, ensuring that PSS is effective, open and accountable, with good 
working relationships between trustees, committee members, the chief executive and members of the 
Leadership Team. All trustees and committee members must abide by the core values that underpin all the 
activity of the organisation; this year we mapped our values onto the code to ensure trustees are clear of both 
the expectations on them and the importance of our values in all levels of our work.

•  Decision making, risk and control – our risk register heavily influences our discussions and Board meeting 
agendas. This is a live document which is frequently reviewed and directs the Board’s focus accordingly. 
However, the Board is aware that responsible risk taking is a key part of achieving innovation and excellence; 
a good example being around the commissioning of a recently acquired service. Following due diligence, the 
risk was felt to be too great and we decided not to pursue the contract. However, honest discussions with 
the commissioner and subsequent changes to the terms meant we were able to take on this piece of work in 
a way that would continue to develop our offer but ensuring the risk was well managed. Our delegation of 
authority document is reviewed by the Board annually and ensures that the matters which should be reserved 
to the Board are, and delegated work is clearly expressed within appropriate boundaries. The Board meet with 
auditors on their own and not in the presence of the executive directors once a year to gain assurance that 
they are receiving accurate reflections of risk. Our Big Plan is our long term strategic plan and out of this falls 
our annual action plan. This and the annual budget are signed off by the Board each year.

•  Board effectiveness – In 2018 we conducted our biennial audit of trustee skills to ensure we have a good mix 
and balance of skills, experience, backgrounds and knowledge. The results of the audit identified three key 
skills we would like to see better represented on our Board – expert by experience, digital and technology, and 
entrepreneurial and commercial. In addition, we recognise the importance of fresh perspectives and monitor 
the trustee reelection schedule to ensure trustees are appointed for the recommended length of time. This 
gives us an ability to plan for future gaps. The skills outlined above and future skill gaps will be addressed 
during an extensive round of trustee recruitment in 2019/20. Board effectiveness was discussed in detail at 
the Board away day in October 2018 and this generated the development of ‘one page profiles’ for each trustee, 
which highlight individual strengths. We also acknowledge there are occasions when we need the advice of 
external experts and made use of this in relation to pensions and the Big Move.

•  Diversity – The Board discussed this issue in depth at their away day in October 2018, where there was an 
in-depth training session and follow up discussion. Our skills audit helps us to examine whether we have a 
diverse range of skills and experience among our trustees. We have developed our Fair Play for All action 
plan and updates on this plan are taken to the Board for review every quarter. In March 2019, we started 
the process for our latest round of trustee recruitment and advertised the roles through a variety of national 
channels to maximise the audience we could reach.

•  Openness and accountability – PSS has a clear ‘tell us’ policy which is the main route for receiving feedback 
of any nature. Both compliments and complaints are reported to the Board at every meeting to ensure that 
we continue to be transparent and open in our operation and response to feedback. Every year we conduct 
surveys with all stakeholders, giving them an opportunity to tell us about their experience of our services and 
these results are reported to the Board. We keep a register of interests for trustees and senior managers and 
trustees declare any conflicts or relationships relevant to the agenda at the beginning of each meeting.
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Trustee recruitment

Trustees are recruited through an open recruitment process. The Board seeks new members who have the skills 
and expertise to complement those already possessed by the Board, and who have an understanding of the 
issues affecting the people and communities PSS supports.  Trustees are elected by the Members at the Annual 
General Meeting but can be co-opted by the Board, pending election, in the intervening period. On appointment, 
new trustees are inducted into the work of PSS and their role as trustee; this involves clarifying roles and 
responsibilities; the work of the Board and the Sub-committees; a required number of visits to services, and 
further specific training as agreed to meet development needs, for example safeguarding for trustees. 

Trustee performance 

The Chair meets with individual trustees on an annual basis to discuss their contribution to the Board and to 
the organisation as a whole.  The Board also conducts a review of its own performance and also on the skills and 
expertise on a biennial basis, as well as self-assessing against the Charity Governance Code to ensure that they are 
acting in line with best practice. 

Presentations about different aspects of the work of PSS and service visits for trustees are arranged on a regular 
basis and trustees are expected to visit services individually throughout the year. Trustees are also expected to 
regularly attend Board and Sub-committee meetings.  These elements of trustee performance are measured in the 
key performance indicators of PSS.  

Delegation of authority 

The Board of Trustees appoint the chief executive who is responsible to the Board for the 
operation and development of PSS and for implementing the strategic objectives set by 
the trustees.  The leadership team, comprising the heads of the major functions of PSS 
are appointed with support from the trustees. The trustees further delegate their 
responsibilities through the use of a comprehensive and structured ‘delegation of 
authority’ framework. The Board receive a comprehensive suite of papers about 
the operational status and development of PSS for their deliberations in advance 
of meetings. A well-developed risk management process further protects the 
activities of PSS.  The register of risks and controls is closely scrutinised by the 
Audit and Governance Sub-committee before being submitted to the Board 
for their full review and input. These reviews further feed in to the charity’s 
business plans. The Board are further involved appropriately in decision-making 
regarding collaborations with other charities or organisations. 

Trustees statement on public benefit  

PSS (UK)’s vision is to influence health, social care and community services 
both locally and nationally, through innovative approaches that make a real 
difference to people’s lives. It does this by carrying out activities that identify 
those in need and create innovative service solutions.  PSS’s trustees therefore 
confirm that they have complied with the duty in section 17 of the Charities Act 
2011 to have due regard to the public benefit guidance published by the Charity 
Commission in determining the activities undertaken by the charity.  

Pay and remuneration  

At PSS we are committed to accountability and transparency in the charity 
sector, but we believe that personal privacy is also an important factor when it 
comes to what we share. 

All executive pay is determined by our Remuneration Committee which 
operates as part of our Audit and Governance Board Sub-Committee. The 
trustees who make up this group are responsible for ensuring a fair pay 
structure across PSS’s executive team that recognises:  

•  individual and team performance in the context of a challenging climate;  

•  the importance of recruiting and retaining the ‘right’ people (both in terms of 
experience and attitude); 

•  fair pay that reflects the level of knowledge, skills and experience required 
and the responsibilities and accountabilities associated with the position;

•  pay levels that are benchmarked against comparable jobs locally and in the 
sector; and 

•  benefits to executive staff are in-line with benefits available to all staff.
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Employment of people with disabilities  

In accordance with our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion policy, we give full and fair consideration to any 
applicant who considers themselves to be disabled, giving due regard to their ability and skill set. Candidates 
are not questioned about their health or disability before an offer is made unless it is to establish whether an 
individual requires any reasonable adjustments. We offer all candidates who consider themselves to be disabled 
the opportunity to attend an interview if they meet the essential criteria for the role. During employment, 
reasonable adjustments are made to either prevent an employee from being absent or to ensure a safe return to 
work following absence, and to avoid recurring absences in the future. PSS encourages all employees to develop 
their skills and qualifications, and to take advantage of promotion and development opportunities which will not 
be refused on the basis of an applicant’s diversity.

Fundraising  

Section 162a of the Charities Act 2011 requires charities to make a statement regarding fundraising activities. 
Although we do not undertake widespread fundraising from the general public, the legislation defines fund 
raising as “soliciting or otherwise procuring money or other property for charitable purposes.” Such amounts 
receivable are presented in our accounts as “voluntary income” and includes legacies and grants.

In relation to the above we confirm that all solicitations are managed internally, without involvement of 
commercial participators or professional fund-raisers, or third parties. The day to day management of all income 
generation is delegated to the executive team, who are accountable to the trustees.

The charity is not bound by any undertaking to be bound by any regulatory scheme and the charity does not 
consider it necessary to comply with any voluntary code of practice. We have received no complaints in relation 
to fundraising activities. Our terms of employment require staff to behave reasonably at all times; as we do 
not approach individuals for funds we do not particularise this to fundraising activities nor do we consider it 
necessary to design specific procedures to monitor such activities.
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The Big Plan: 
how are we getting on?  

To ensure we keep things nice and simple (as you know we like 
to do) this annual update is structured against each of the five 
themes of our Big Plan. Under each of our Big Plan themes, we’ll 
tell you some of the brilliant stuff we’ve done to help inch us 
ever-closer to our goals. Buckle up – it’s been a busy old year!

The PSS Big Plan plan is split into five themes.

To help us all remember what we need to focus on each day, we’ve given each theme an icon, a colour, and, as we 
mentioned in last year’s report (for all of you regular Annual Report readers out there), each of them also has a song. 
So, if you’re in the mood for a bit of a sing-song while you have a casual read through our report, why not log in to 
wherever you normally stream your music from and give our very own PSS soundtrack a whirl, song by song. Starting 
with a classic by the Starman himself: David Bowie. 

We can see where 
there is a need for 

change and where we 
can, we do something 

about it

What we do is of 
the highest quality 
and changes  lives 

for  the better

Our whole team signs 
up to a positive and 

proactive culture

People who 
use our 

services drive 
what we do

We’re going to be 
around for future 

generations 
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It’s all calm in the barn

Spending time in nature can improve your mood, reduce feelings of stress and 
anxiety and help you feel more relaxed. Towards the end of last year we were excited 
to receive a one-off grant from Liverpool City Council for a brand new wellbeing 
space at Dutch Farm where, luckily for us, the team over at our Making Days South 
service have already established a beautiful green space with allotments, flower 
beds galore, poly-tunnels and even a fairy garden. Our Wellbeing Centres team 
and the people using the service thought it would be just the perfect leafy-green 
environment for a lovely new space where everyone can get closer to nature and 
feel those therapeutic benefits. And so, Dutch Barn was born.

One of the specific target groups for Dutch Barn is men aged between 45 and 60 
who may be experiencing mental health issues such as anxiety and depression – 
but anyone who wants to look after their mental health and wellbeing can use it. 

We’re bringing a whole host of mental health and wellbeing activities to Dutch 
Barn – from men’s shed groups, gardening, mindfulness and healthy eating to 
keeping active, bird watching, bee-keeping, music, arts and crafts.

Dutch Barn was officially opened on 23rd August 2018 and we had a lovely garden party to celebrate – complete 
with Dutch pancakes (there’s a theme here) and music from the fabulous Strumbrellas. Friends of PSS and 
Liverpool City Council gathered to celebrate the barn’s official opening, have a look inside and see the big red 
ribbon cut by Nicky, service manager at our Wellbeing Centres, and those who use the service. 

We can see where there is a need for change
and where we can, we do something about it

David Bowie
Changes
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Ruby@Turnaround

Everyone in the third and public sector knows that, at the moment, funding is hard to come by 
and even when you have an idea that works, it can be hard to make it slot into the way services 
are funded across health and social care. At the end of 2017/18 we really struggled to retain 
funding for our Ruby hospital domestic abuse service, and the same was to be said of another 
funding stream for Ruby which finished in February 2019. This was really frustrating as we knew 
there was still a huge demand for this service and the reports of its impact were truly impressive.  However, there 
was simply no money to deliver it, and we just can’t run the service if it’s not sustainable. Therefore, we looked at 
where money was being redirected and where we might use our expertise in a more targeted way. We wanted to 
make sure that our team’s amazing efforts in the domestic abuse arena were put to good use, so we directed them 
towards one of our other specialist subjects – women in, or at risk of entering, the criminal justice system. 

In April 2018 we were successful in a bid to the Ministry of Justice, and around the same time, we were given 
permission for the reallocation of our Lottery funds from the original Ruby project’s pure focus on healthcare 
environments, to this new area. Our Ruby service is now a much-needed part of our core offer within our 
women’s offender service (Women’s Turnaround) and much closer to a longer-term funding solution. 

Learning about birth trauma

Mary Goodchild works for our Parent and Baby Wellness service and as a 
highly-trained specialist midwife, is a very important part of the team (she’s 
also a really lovely, kind person who lives our values daily and as a result is 
a 2018/19 PSS Big Award winner). For some time Mary has been specialising 
in the field of birth trauma, looking at how we can support women across 
Merseyside (and beyond) who experienced a traumatic birth – by either 
working with them directly or with the healthcare professionals they have 
or are likely to come into contact with. Birth trauma can often result in 
problems with attachment very soon after birth, so dealing with this type of 
trauma in the right way is vital to get parents and their children off on the 
right foot. 

Over the last 12 months Mary has worked with our team to train over 100 professionals from across the country. 
This training is hugely valued by them with many telling us they had known birth trauma training was missing 
from professional development and how delighted they are that Mary has helped us to fill this gap. 

Rocket wo-man

In 2018 Pamela Oden, who, at the time, was head of Shared 
Lives Midlands, took over all our Shared Lives schemes across 
England. Pam had a plan – to share expertise more widely, 
drive up innovation and efficiency and share best practice across 
the teams. As the largest deliverer of Shared Lives in the country 
and with 40 years’ experience, we know we’ve got to keep learning, 
improving and growing our offer. We really believe that Shared Lives 
has the potential to transform social care in the UK, but it is still a little-
known model. Part of the next few years is going to be about raising the 
profile of Shared Lives and giving as many people as possible the opportunity 
to be part of a Shared Lives scheme in their area. 

To make this happen (and add some much-needed resource into some tight 
budgets) the project also resulted in two new roles – Shared Lives England 
development and innovation manager and the Shared Lives England efficiency 
and effectiveness manager. These two roles are now occupied by Sarah Wilson and 
Justin Wall, two highly-experienced Shared Lives staff members. Why is the title of 
this section ‘rocket wo-man’? Because this was Pamela’s genius and these two are our 
boosters on the side of our Shared Lives England rocket – taking us to the next level! 

Keeping families together 

Our Women’s Turnaround service is funded by Merseyside Community Rehabilitation Company and works to 
help rehabilitate women who have offended in the past. The majority of the women we work with within this 
service have children and many of them are still of primary school age. In 2017 the Lord Farmer Review reinforced 
that the bond between someone with an offending history and their family is one of the key things that we need 
to strengthen and build to reduce reoffending. For the past few years we have centrally-funded a family worker 
outside of our core contract in Women’s Turnaround – a role which supports the women in our service to be better 
parents and give their children a stronger chance of a positive future. This year that role continued to grow in value 
and impact and we are hoping that in coming years it will form part of our core offer and be funded in a sustainable 
way to ensure we can really focus on transforming family relationships, to reduce offending going forwards. 
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A flashy new system 

CMS stands for client management system - a place for all of our important data about the people who use our 
services to live harmoniously under one digital roof. As you know, here at PSS we’ve been kicking about for a while 
(100 years, actually), which means we’ve got reams and reams of information that we need to log and store in a 
less-cluttered, more-organised way. 

This long-awaited system (it’s taken a good while to find the right one) was purchased this year, and the 
development began in January. It’s due for a full introduction across all PSS services by September 2019. This has 
been a huge job as we’ve known for some time we need to create uniformity across our services in terms of how we 
collect and record information – both to ensure everyone’s data is always as safe as it possibly can be, but also so we 
can keep an eye on outcomes and progress across the board and make sure 
we’re doing as good a job as we can. 

The Big (and long-time-coming) HQ move

One of the biggest things to happen this year was our Big Move. In October, we went from over 30 years on Seel 
Street in central Liverpool to our new home at Eleanor Rathbone House.  It’s taken over two years to buy our new 
building, do it up and move in – and it hasn’t been a process for the faint-hearted. When we (eventually) acquired 
our new site in summer 2018 we had a lot of work to do – a complete refit (from its previous life as a rather 
corporate serviced office building) to something fit for our teams and the people who use our services. 

Not only have we got a great new head office as a result of this piece of work, but we also added a tidy sum to the 
balance sheet, giving us strong financial security in these difficult times. We’re delighted with the end result and 
glad we decided to push the boat out on some more creative ways of doing things – if it’s good enough for Google, 
why not for a health and social care charity on the Mersey? We’ve got a basketball net, snooker table, table tennis 
and a free coffee machine – all designed to create a happy and productive work environment that means we do the 
best we possibly can by the people we support.  

On the back of this building move we’ve welcomed new tenants from Merseyside CRC and our very own Women’s 
Turnaround Centre into the South Wing (this is a joke – it’s big, but it’s not that big). This will help us work more 
closely and help our central staff feel even closer to the work we do in the community.

Time well spent 

We all hate it when we’re stuck in a non-productive meeting that doesn’t 
seem to be going anywhere, so this year we made them a thing of the 
past, with our positive and productive meetings framework. Gill Dolan, 
our interim director of services, helped us come up with a fab way to set 
intentions for our meetings beforehand, keep time, tick off all the things 
we need to talk about and even get to know each-other a bit better in the 
process. We’ve heard some brilliant feedback from our teams across the 
organisation that the framework is helping to give meetings more structure 
and making them far quicker and more effective.  This has enabled us to 
strengthen bonds between teams and has helped our managers better 
support their team members through having a fuller understanding of 
what makes them tick (and more importantly – what doesn’t). 

Making the mostof our meetings

Getting the meeting
plan together

1

Open with a chin-wag 

3

6 Things
we need 
to tell
you about

10

Let’s 
wrap
it up

Anything
niggling?

9

8 What needs
to happen next?

7 Things
we need
to talk over

4 What are we
here to do?
The purpose,
the ground rules,everybody’s role

Let’s get
settled 

2

What are
we doing and
how long
should it take?

5

12



An inspector calls…and again…and again…and again! 

A lot of our services are inspected by regulators like the Care Quality Commission 
and the Care Inspectorate Wales.

Wales: In March 2018, Shared Lives Wales had an unannounced inspection on 
‘quality of life’. The inspectors were really impressed with the service and the Wales 
team were well-prepared and ready to show how effectively they work. As a result, 
there were no significant recommendations for Wales which is the best result, as 
services in Wales aren’t given a rating.

PSS Seel Street: At our old Seel Street office (we left there in October 2018), three 
of our services were registered with CQC – Shared Lives Merseyside, Supported 
Living and Community Support. At our last inspection we received a 
‘Good’ rating, with ‘Good’ across all domains. We were 
aiming to improve this to ‘Outstanding’ by following-up on 
the actions suggested by the inspector. In this inspection, 
we maintained our ‘Good’ rating with ‘Good’ across all the 
individual domains, which is really positive, especially 
since the inspectors told us that the new criteria is tougher 
than before and to retain this is really good performance.

Wirral Shared Lives: Our Wirral Shared Lives service 
received its first inspection with us this year. The results were 
generally very positive with some ‘Good’ feedback – and we received 
a ‘Good’ rating overall. There were some concerns about the fact that our 
Wirral service was based at a remote office and the registered manager was located 
elsewhere, naturally making it harder to have the oversight that is the legal responsibility 
of the registered managers. To address these concerns, the Wirral team has moved into our new 
HQ building, Eleanor Rathbone House. This not only ensures that the registered manager has greater 
oversight of the service, but will also produce a cost saving and create more resilience within the new Shared 
Lives Merseyside team.

Manchester Shared Lives: Our fourth inspection this year was at Manchester Shared Lives, their first inspection 
three years after joining us. The inspector visited the office and went on a home visit to meet with a person using 
the service and their carer. The feedback was generally very positive and we have also received a ‘Good’ rating 
overall.

What we do is of the highest quality
and changes lives for the better

The Beatles
Getting Better

A new rulebook

As our work got moving on the Isle of Man we had to get up-to-speed with 
a new way of doing things in terms of regulation. This has been a steep 
learning curve; the differences between England and Wales have always 
been something we’ve had to keep front of mind, but now we have a third 
framework to consider. Lots of hard work between our operational team and 
our quality team have got us there in the end and we are now registered on 
the island and raring to go. 

Everyone wants Emerald

Our fabulous internal quality system continued to 
do its job this year with reviews continuing across 
all our different services. This year the number of 
‘Emerald’ (our highest internal rating) and ‘Green 
Plus’ (so near but not quite an Emerald) were 
higher than ever before. The drive around doing 
well in these reviews is getting ever stronger with 
teams really keen to impress our quality team and 
show them what they’re made of. We do love a bit 
of internal competition – particularly when it’s 
about getting even better at what we do. 
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Watch out for the Watchdogs

Our Watchdogs group is made up of people who use our Making Days services in Liverpool and this year it’s 
had a bit of a spruce up. Our teams have supported the people using these services to overhaul how this group 
works to ensure people’s voices are heard loud and clear and influence the work we do. The group has got a new 
structure (including a new Board) and has formalised how they do things so they can make sure all agreed actions 
are followed up and projects are kept to schedule. In September 2018 the group presented at the main PSS Trustee 
Board meeting (held at Dutch Barn in South Liverpool), telling our trustees about how the group works, what it 
does and what influence they’d had to date. They were incredibly impressive and we definitely saw our Chair 
keeping a note on some of their best practice!

Wellbeing Centres making an impact

Our Wellbeing Centres completed their 
first Impact Report in autumn 2018. 
This service works with people with 
mild to moderate mental health needs, 
supporting them to better manage their 
own thought processes and challenges 
in a safe group environment. It’s taken 
a bit of time to get this report completed 
but it was worth the wait. It showed us the great impact the service 
is having on those it works with, with 84% of people reporting 
an improvement in anxiety 
symptoms and 73% 
reporting a positive lift 
around depression.  

The star of the show 

This year we locked in on a decision to fully 
commit to the ‘Outcomes Star’. There are so many 
tools for measuring individual progress out there 
and we’ve tried lots of them – but we’re keen to have 
something that works across our different services. 
Also we need something that will slot into our CMS, 
allowing us to digitally record (and evaluate) progress 
for the people we support. 

Each service now utilises the most appropriate Star 
for the people they support and those who are new to 
the model are buddying with those who have used the 
tool for some time, to ensure they get the most from it. 
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Support planning overhaul

How we approach support plans has changed somewhat this year with an increase in video support plans and a 
simplification of the structure of plans to give uniformity across PSS. Created in consultation with people using 
services, the new support plans give us the best of both worlds – a format that works for the people who use our 
service and what they want to achieve, and something less complicated for our operational teams. This is perfect 
timing, allowing us to have something straightforward that will slot into our new client management system when 
it is built during 2019.

Fair Play For All

We believe that every single person should always be treated fairly no matter what. Part of our motto at PSS 
is ‘with us, you can’, and that’s why respecting diversity and promoting fairness is at the heart of what we do; 
ensuring that we support people to have equal chances, no matter what life throws at them. We want to celebrate 
equality, diversity and inclusion and embed it as a fundamental aspect of who we are and what we do – and 
although we’d already made some really great progress in that area thanks to the lovely, inclusive culture we have 
at PSS, we wanted to step it up a gear. In March 2018, we worked with staff, the people who use our services and 
Shared Lives carers to evolve our approach to equality and diversity and put an even better plan in place that will 
take us from 2018 right through to 2020. Our new strategy, called Fair Play For All, covers six themes:

•  We’re committed to equality, diversity, safety and fairness 

•  Our services, facilities and information are accessible for everyone

•  We involve people when we make decisions

•  We treat people fairly and do things in the right way

•  Our people and services reflect their communities

•  People have trust and confidence to tell us if things aren’t right 

By working together to do what we’ve set out to do in 
our strategy, we’ll keep on moving towards an even 
more inclusive culture that understands and 
respects the individual differences of the people 
we support and employ, and truly promotes 
fair play for all.

Transgender awareness

Christian Owens, a Detective Sergeant in Merseyside 
Police, has been working closely with us this year to 
help us make sure we’re educated about and aware 
of the trans community. As a trans gay man who is 
currently working in the community engagement unit 
of Merseyside Police, we met him via our lovely trustee, 
Assistant Chief Constable Julie Cooke, and he’s since 
become one of our friends. He’s been providing some 
reverse mentoring to our chief executive, Lesley, and 
he’s been providing us with lots of advice about things 
like our toilet signs at head office, which we’re proud to 
say are inclusive of all gender identities and expressions. 

Through this link our teams were offered spots on a 
course provided by Mermaids to help our people better 
understand transgender, non-binary and gender non-
conformity.  PSS people from all over the organisation 
jumped at the chance to get involved and we’re really 
proud to be trans allies.
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Nothing about me without me

Our induction day is one of the ways we set the tone for 
how we do things here at PSS for new team members, 
and we want to make sure that all of our new starters get 
to hear from not just their colleagues, but the people we 
support, too. After all, the people who use our services 
are the ones who know exactly what a good member of 
our team should be – and we want our teams to know 
what that looks like. So in January, we got together with 
a group who use a big variety of our services to have a 
review of our induction and put some plans in place to 

make it even better. We took all of their feedback on board, and we’ve now got a 
new and improved induction presentation.

Robbie and Nicole
Do nothing till you

hear from me

The Newby gang go bat-catching

At Newby House there’s a fair few people who live together under 
one roof who have mental health needs and support each other to 
feel happier and healthier. The guys over there had been itching to 
have a break away together for some time – and they had a few ideas in mind to make it a holiday to remember in 
the great outdoors. Sarah Dobie, the manager at Newby, made it happen in September this year. The group ditched 
their laptops, phones and TVs and went along to Denmark Eco Farm, where they lived the full eco experience; 
sleeping in tents and even using an eco loo (good old compost)!  The group were able to truly unwind and 
escape from the hustle and bustle of everyday life. There was also plenty to do, with exciting nature trails, river 
relaxation therapy and even a once in-a-lifetime bat-catching experience, led by Aberystwyth 
University’s bat conservation experts. One of the campers said ‘This is the most amazing thing 
I’ve ever seen in my whole life’ – and we wish we were there to see it, too.

Accolades honour for Shared Lives Wales team

Our small but mighty Wales team was shortlisted this year for an award in the Citizen-Led category at Social Care 
Wales’ Accolades Awards. Recognised for how the team always puts the people who use our services at the centre 
of what they do, the team came runner-up at the ceremony in Cardiff in September, where the judges showed a 
film about the team’s brilliant practice and said they were really impressed by the service.

Liverpool then and now

Liverpool is a place that has changed so much over the last 100 years, helped along, of course, by some of our own 
innovations in health and social care. The photography group at Making Days South wanted to document how 
our city has changed in celebration of our centenary, so have started a huge piece of work this year to capture its 
changing face. They’ve been taking snapshots of Liverpool now and comparing it to old photographs of the city 
through the years – reminding us of progress and innovation.
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Pictures taken by George and Terry. The image centre is our first office on Stanley St!
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Putting accessibility to the test at PSS HQ

During the process of the move to our new head office, we 
called on the expertise of David, who used to be a trustee 
and still volunteers on our carer panel, to come and help us 
double-check that our new place was accessible. David uses 
a wheelchair and volunteered his time to come and take a 
tour round the building to find out if it truly was suitable 
for wheelchair users. The great news is, with a few tiny 
tweaks suggested by David to make things even easier to 
reach, the building passed the test, and thanks to David’s 
expertise we can now be really confident that everyone can 
get about at PSS HQ.

No Offence and a Splash of Triumph

Writing’s good for the soul. It helps us express our emotions, tell our stories 
and make sense of what we’ve been through. So when our friends at Writing 
On The Wall got in touch and asked to team back up with the people who use 
our services on some new poetry and prose, they said a resounding yes.

The first to be published this year was written by people who use our Family 
Impact service and was called ‘And A Splash Of Triumph’, a follow-up to 
last year’s successful publication called Hope and Two Sugars (get it? Hope 
and Two Sugars And a Splash of Triumph?). Whereas the first book focused 
on the stories of the grandparents and children whose families have been 
effected by drug and alcohol addiction, this one was written mostly by the 
parents who are suffering addiction. Raw, honest and insightful, And A 
Splash Of Triumph is a read that’s both tough and uplifting at the same time 
- a true reflection of these people’s voices.

In December 2018, we then released No Offence, a book of poetry and prose 
written by the women who use our Women’s Turnaround service. The 
book explores the rollercoaster of emotions that women in the criminal 
justice system experience, and looks at how their life experiences have 
shaped their lives. To celebrate the book’s launch, we hosted what made for 
a very emotional event at Eleanor Rathbone House, where a whole host of 
brave women stepped up to the mic and read their pieces from the book.

We couldn’t be prouder of the people who have shared their stories in these books for speaking out and being 
proud of who they are – and we’re so pleased to have been able to give them this platform to have their voices 
heard. Big thanks from us to Writing On The Wall.

Success at Southport Flower Show

The people who use our Making Days South 
service decided they wanted to enter the 
leeks they grew down at Dutch Farm into the 
Southport Flower Show, and were over the moon 
when they won third prize. They spent many 
busy days making sure their veggies were well 
looked after, so they were delighted that all the 
hard work paid off. 

3rd
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Learning about our history 

When the folks at Making Days North heard about PSS turning 100 they wanted to learn more about the great 
things we’ve achieved, so in March, they invited Siobhan from our communications team along to their centre to 
hear all about it. Armed with a ton of photographs from our archives and lots of interesting facts, she loaded them 
into a metaphorical time-machine and transported them on a journey back through the years. The people in the 
session really enjoyed it – and if any pub quiz questions ever come up about PSS, we think they’ll be sorted.  

Teaching our Board a thing or two 

The PSS leadership team and Board got all green-
fingered in October, when they had a gardening 
lesson from Keith, who has learned some blooming 
brilliant gardening skills from using our Dutch 
Barn service. Keith, supported by Darren Roberts 
(who has taken over from Tony and is now heading 
up Dutch Farm), did his best Alan Titchmarsh 
impression and taught everyone how to make their 
gardens marvellous. The lesson was followed by a 
Board meeting in Dutch Barn. Karol, David, Julie 
and Nichola, from our Homes and Communities 
services, came along to give a presentation and 
were joined by Keith, Mike and David, who use 
those services. They talked to the Board about their 
experiences, how we supported them, what they 
like and their plans for the future. 

The Cabin Crew land Dutch Barn

As mentioned earlier on in the report we were excited to receive a one-off grant from Liverpool City Council’s 
Pioneer Fund in 2018 for a brand new wellbeing space at our urban farm, Dutch Farm, in South Liverpool and in 
August, thanks to a team of experts, we really started to kick the project off.

We wanted the people who use our Wellbeing service to drive this project and be there every step of the way, so 
we needed to get a team together. We advertised across our centres for people who would like to form a steering 
group of seven people and two staff. Sure enough, people came forward to help and the very cleverly-named 
Cabin Crew was formed.

The Cabin Crew took the reins on the development with the support of our Wellbeing Centres team, making 
decisions on everything from the size, shape and style of the building, how many windows it should have and what 
the interiors should look like through to what courses should be held there, how and when. Once the building 
works were underway, the group continued to review the work being done with their comments, concerns and 
amendments being fed back to the company doing the building. And so, the cleverly-named Dutch Barn was born.

The Crew did a cracking job – and we now have a wonderfully cosy, mind-calming place to hold some of our 
wellbeing courses.

Silent movies, 1920s style

This year the talented group of actors at 
Making Days South worked with Lisa, 
Siobhan and Conor in our communications 
team to produce a two-part film together, 
in the style of a 1920s silent movie, to help 
us with our 100th birthday celebrations. 
The first part was to help bring our values 
to life, to encourage our teams to nominate 
their colleagues for our annual Big Awards 
(celebrating the people who have lived our 
values); the second part was to set some 
ground rules for the awards ceremony itself, 
which took place at our big 100th birthday 
party in January. Neither our communications team nor the drama group take themselves too seriously, and by all 
accounts, had so much fun and a right good laugh filming and working together, sparking creativity left, right and 
centre. The actors did an amazing job of injecting loads of that feel-good humour into the films with their classic 
silent movie over-acting techniques, getting loads of chuckles from our ceremony guests when the films were 
shown on the night. We think this may be the start of a beautiful partnership.
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Our knowledge pool 

Learning is so important to us at PSS; that’s why 
our learning and development team have brought 
in a brand new, more effective way for us to 
learn this year. Our new learning management 
system, called Learning Pool, was introduced by 
the team in the summer and provides a digital 
way for all of us – based at a desk or out in our 
communities – to log on and train up in what we 
need to know. Whether it’s essential learning that 
is compulsory to our roles or training as part of our 
personal development plans, Learning Pool is now 
offering us a whole variety of online courses at 
our fingertips – available on our desktops, laptops, 
tablets and even our mobile phones. It’s really easy 
to use, keeps track of the learning we’ve done and 
lets our management teams see an overview of 
where our teams are at, making the whole learning 
journey so much more accessible and efficient for 
everyone.

Positive and proactive culture

The Lego Movie
Everything is awesome

Wellbeing Wednesdays

Being busy providing top-notch services can get stressful sometimes, and it’s so important that all of our teams are 
looking after their own wellbeing – both in and out of work. This year we introduced the PSS Wellbeing Survey, 
which was designed by our people and culture team to find out how our teams are feeling at work. We had a 
brilliant response rate, with lots of our people coming forward with honesty about how they’re getting on. Through 
the survey, we learned about some of the things we could be doing to help our teams feel happier, calmer and more 
relaxed. And as a result, we’ve introduced some fab new initiatives. Wellbeing Wednesdays take place each week at 
Eleanor Rathbone House. On Wednesdays, our staff can take a break from their desks and come along to a mindful 
meditation session in the morning, followed by restorative yoga at lunchtime. Both sessions have a really good 
turn-out and we’re working on bringing similar initiatives to all of our PSS locations, including the setup of a choir 
at HMP Altcourse’s Visitors’ Centre, bike rides and sea-front walks in Wales and canal barge trips in the Midlands. 

Being in the know

Internal communications continues to be a challenge for us across our many offices and with community-based 
staff. We are working hard on a strategy for this for 19/20 and this year we have had an increase in people using 
our intranet and coming to our staff events. However, we still have work to do to get to the full-
flowing two-way communication we want with all our staff. With geography not being on our 
side we’ve started some more pieces of work to get information from and to these remote staff 
through lots of different channels, making sure they feel part of the bigger PSS picture. 

Making sure we’re digitally savvy

As the world becomes ever more digitally-dependent, we need to make sure we’re doing 
the same. We’ve already mentioned our upcoming CMS, but what is 
key to its smooth introduction is that our staff have the right digital 
skills in place to confidently use it in their services. Our sector is not 
known to be the most digitally-transformed and unfortunately, we, 
like most providers, have got some investment to do in getting all our 
teams’ skills to where they’ll need to be in the near future.  

We’ve started to simplify our approach to IT training, focusing 
on what matters in peoples daily roles, and then once 
they’re clued up on what really matters, giving them the 
option to learn more beyond this if they want to. We want 
to make sure that people who are less confident with IT 
understand that the skills they need to work with the CMS 
are no different to uploading a picture to Facebook, booking 
a holiday or doing their weekly shop online. 
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It’s always time to talk

Here at PSS, we treat our mental health with as much 
importance as we do our physical health (as it should be). It’s 
really important to make sure we’re able to have open and 
honest conversations about our own experiences with our 
work friends and colleagues – especially as we’re in work 
with them almost every day. On national Time to Talk Day in 
February this year, Sean Kirk, our senior learning business 
partner, organised a fab get-together at Eleanor Rathbone 
House, where we were all invited to get together in our Big 
Cwtch (that’s our big staff area, for all you non-PSS-ers!), grab 
a cake and a cuppa and join in with a big discussion about our 
minds and how we can manage them. Hosted by some of our 
resident mental health experts, we all learned a thing or two 
and went away feeling much more connected to the people around us.

Naradas

The PSS Naradas have continued this year, twice-yearly events that bring together all of the leaders across the 
organisation to take part in training, discussion and workshops. In the first part of the year we had a PSS Narada 
on resilience, where our managers learned about how to deal with stress and how they can support their teams 
during stressful times, and in the second part of the year we had one about change management, and the best 
ways to communicate about changes that are happening. These Naradas are helping to make sure we’re all on the 
same page when it comes to how we lead our teams and helps us keep everyone feeling positive, motivated and 
able to do their best for the people they support.

Our Christmas tradition

At PSS HQ, we put up a Christmas tree each year, but as of the last few years, 
we’ve started a lovely tradition – our Secret Santa tree. When the tree goes up in 
reception, we fill it up with wishes from people who use our services who may not 
be as fortunate as we are. One by one, PSS people from all over our organisation 
pick off wishes from the tree and anonymously make them come true – whether 
that’s for a Marilyn Munroe mug, a bar of chocolate, an Elvis CD or a new pair of 
slippers. In true testament to our big-hearted people, wishes never seem to last more 
than a few days on the tree before it’s looking a bit sparse and in need of a refill.

Making the most of our people

Our Big Plan sets out clear goals and themes for our work. We’re all clued-up on what’s in it and we all do our 
bit to help us achieve it. Each year, every service, service area and directorate develop their own plan to help us 
meet the objectives set out in the Big Plan. But the planning doesn’t stop there: we also all have an individual 
action plan, where we say how we’re personally going to support our service area or directorate plan – which, 
of course, feeds back in to our Big Plan. Got it? Great! What’s also great is that this year, 98% of our staff had an 
individual action plan in place, which means 98% of us committed personal goals to help towards our Big Plan. 
That’s good going!

But how is performance against targets monitored, we hear 
you cry! Well, through monthly one-to-ones, a mid-year 
review and an end-of-year review, too. A good 
review is only good when everyone participates 
and reports back on how things are going. 
This year we developed all-new performance 
management templates to help each member 
of our team and our managers talk about 
what’s going well and what’s going not 
so well. The new templates include 
some brand new questions to help 
managers and team members keep an 
eye on things like personal wellbeing, 
happiness at work and any skills or 
talents they feel are being underused 
– along with all the usual things like 
progress against objectives and how 
our teams are living our values.
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One-page profiles

Lots of us here at PSS get to know our colleagues quite well. It’s what forms part 
of the lovely, friendly feeling so many people get when they come and visit us at 
one of our locations – and what helps us work well together each day. We wanted 
to make these working relationships even stronger, so our interim director of 
services, Gill Dolan, introduced us to the brilliant idea of ‘one-page profiles’. Our 
one-page profiles are (surprise surprise) one page of information about us that 
will help our colleagues get the best out of us. In our profiles, we talk about what’s 
important to us at work, what we want to get from our jobs, how our colleagues 
can best support us and what others admire about us, giving everyone who reads 
them a really good sense of who we are as a person, in just a little snapshot. Our 
open-minded PSS people got on board with the idea and each of us at PSS now has 
a one-page profile, which we made available to our teams and beyond. They’ve 
been so useful in helping us to keep our culture positive and productive.

Staff Survey 2018

97%
of staff feel good 
about the way we 
contribute to the 

community

Each year we complete a Staff Survey. The questions we ask are based around those used by the Great Place 
to Work Employee Survey, which focuses on five dimensions of employee engagement: Credibility, Respect, 
Fairness, Pride and Camaraderie.   

We are absolutely delighted that the results this year continued to improve, beating the very impressive results 
of the 2017 survey. Every dimension of our survey is at least 80% positive and we are also delighted that 
there has been a significant increase in the net promoter score which is +42 (from +28) - the highest result we 
have achieved since introducing the Staff Survey in 2011. The net promoter score asks people whether they’d 
recommend PSS as an employee to friends and family and it can range from -100 to +100 – so a score of+42 is 
impressive indeed. 

The overall response rate was 58.5%, down slightly on 2017, but 
still not bad. We of course would love to see this increase in 2019 
and we’ll be pushing for that, but for now we’ll remain happy 
with a fantastic result for 2018. 

That is 
taking the 
mickey

WIN 
£100

IN HIGH STREET 
VOUCHERS 

• • •
Enter the survey

to be added to our
prize draw!

It’s time for the 2018 staff survey and, as always, we’d love to hear 

what you think. This is your chance to tell us what’s working, 

what isn’t and what needs to change to make things better.

The survey will take no more than 20 minutes to complete and will ask 

you questions about all sorts of ‘things PSS’ - from job satisfaction and 

stress levels through to how you feel about our management teams and 

how we communicate.

Be really honest with your feedback. The survey is confidential and 

we’re absolutely committed to acting on your feedback. Last year 

we were pretty ‘buzzing’ with the results, the only thing we were 

disappointed with was the 60% response rate. This meant that over 

100 of you never got to have your say and use that chance to make 

work that bit better for you and your team. So we are determined 

(see what we did there?) to make sure we hear from a lot more of 

you this year. So get online, get filling in and get your voice heard. 

The survey will close on 21st September 2018.

Take the survey online: 

psspeople.com/2018staffsurvey 

Strongly 
disagree

Agree Strongly
agree

Disagree

This needs 
bloomin’ 
well sorting

WIN 
£100

IN HIGH STREET 
VOUCHERS 

• • •
Enter the survey

to be added to our
prize draw!

It’s time for the 2018 staff survey and, as always, we’d love to hear 
what you think. This is your chance to tell us what’s working, 
what isn’t and what needs to change to make things better.

The survey will take no more than 20 minutes to complete and will ask 
you questions about all sorts of ‘things PSS’ - from job satisfaction and 
stress levels through to how you feel about our management teams and 
how we communicate.

Be really honest with your feedback. The survey is confidential and 
we’re absolutely committed to acting on your feedback. Last year 
we were pretty ‘buzzing’ with the results, the only thing we were 
disappointed with was the 60% response rate. This meant that over 
100 of you never got to have your say and use that chance to make 
work that bit better for you and your team. So we are determined 
(see what we did there?) to make sure we hear from a lot more of 
you this year. So get online, get filling in and get your voice heard. 
The survey will close on 21st September 2018.

Take the survey online: 

psspeople.com/2018staffsurvey 

Strongly 
disagree

Agree Strongly
agree

Disagree

Things
are hunky
dory

WIN 
£100

IN HIGH STREET 
VOUCHERS 

• • •
Enter the survey

to be added to our
prize draw!

It’s time for the 2018 staff survey and, as always, we’d love to hear 
what you think. This is your chance to tell us what’s working, 
what isn’t and what needs to change to make things better.
The survey will take no more than 20 minutes to complete and will ask 
you questions about all sorts of ‘things PSS’ - from job satisfaction and 
stress levels through to how you feel about our management teams and 
how we communicate.

Be really honest with your feedback. The survey is confidential and 
we’re absolutely committed to acting on your feedback. Last year 
we were pretty ‘buzzing’ with the results, the only thing we were 
disappointed with was the 60% response rate. This meant that over 
100 of you never got to have your say and use that chance to make 
work that bit better for you and your team. So we are determined 
(see what we did there?) to make sure we hear from a lot more of 
you this year. So get online, get filling in and get your voice heard. 
The survey will close on 21st September 2018.

Take the survey online: 

psspeople.com/2018staffsurvey 

Strongly 
disagree

Agree Strongly
agree

Disagree

95%
of people think

PSS is a friendly 
place to work

79%
of staff

feel valued
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Our leadership team make a promise

After a mammoth review session of our Big Plan back in November, our leadership team came up with five things 
they’re going to concentrate on over the next year. 

As with the episodes of Friends, all of their pledges have their own name. So here they are:

These are issues our leadership team picked up on via the Staff Survey, discussions with our communications team 
and with our Board. We can’t wait to get going on them!

Pledge one -
‘The learning and 
development one’

We’re going to spend an additional 
£20,000 on learning and 

development – helping to make
PSS people the best they can be.

Pledge three -
‘The client 

management 
system one’

We’ll introduce 
the much 

anticipated client 
management 

system and make 
sure our teams 
find it useful.

Pledge two -
‘The  wellbeing one’

We’re going to invest £10,000
in activities, events and campaigns to 

help our teams to look after
their own wellbeing.

Pledge five -
‘The internal

communications one’
We’ll improve internal communications 
by making sure people always share the 
information they need to and do it in a 

way that works.   

Pledge four -
‘The great one’

Together we’ll decide what ‘great’ looks 
like and if an area of work isn’t there 

yet, we’ll give the team involved lots of 
support along the way. 

There’s no I in ‘team’

One thing we’ve always been big on at PSS is teams – forming 
them, being part of them and being proud of them. We want our 
teams to work well together and get on well together, too, so we 
think it’s really important that they get out of the office once a 
year and spend the day balancing working through some key team 
issues with having a bit of a laugh together – whether it’s trying 
to get strikes at the bowling alley, putting some balls at golf or 
hitting the park for a picnic. And this year was no different, with a 
summer of lovely team building. Top marks for being adventurous 
went to our finance team, who this year ended up paddling down 
the Mersey in canoes! 

Joining forces

Our leadership and senior management teams work closely together all the time, but this year the two teams 
decided to take it up a notch, and make more decisions collectively, rather than in their two separate team 
meetings. They changed up how they hold their regular meetings (thanks to our new ‘making the most of your 
meetings’ framework) and what they talk about together. Now, more of the decisions previously discussed by our 
leadership team alone are up for discussion at our senior management team meetings, and all senior management 
meetings are chaired by Lesley, our chief executive, and also attended by one of our directors.  That means that 
our leadership team are now also aware of issues raised at a senior management team level – and now get to hear 
even more about the little operational details that make up the bigger PSS picture. They’ve started getting together 
a few times a year for an away day, where big themes are discussed in detail, and they’ve started supporting each 
other much more on a day-to-day level thanks to the sharing of their one-page profiles – feeling more able to talk 
about those little things that would benefit from a bit of insight from someone else. What we’ve got now, thanks to 
these small changes, is a much more close-knit team and stronger cross-team relationships... which can only be a 
great thing for our organisation!
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The Big 100 Awards

Every year, we host The Big Awards, a ceremony where we celebrate the PSS 
people who were nominated by their colleagues for being the most big-hearted, 
open-minded, determined, genuine and professional at PSS. Each winner gets 
their very own award and is presented with one of our coveted golden lanyards 
for the year ahead (our usual lanyards are PSS green – so the goldies stand out 
quite a bit). Nominations for our Big Awards are made by video entry, and our 
award-winners are decided by a panel of the people who clinched awards in 
the previous year – using their expertise to decide who should win next time. 
We also have a set of special Quality Awards, awarded by our quality experts, 
designed to give a big stamp of excellence to the highest quality manager, 
highest quality team and most improved team that year.

This year, at our Centenary Swing, BBC Radio Merseyside presenter, the one and only 
Roger Phillips, hosted a very special Big 100 Awards during the event. A whopping 59 
people were nominated this year (which just goes to show how lucky we are to have so 
many wonderful colleagues) – and what a special year to be nominated.

So, who were the winners this time?

Our Quality Award winners were…

Quality Improvement of the Year: Family Impact and Prisoners’ Families Team

Quality Leadership Award: Rachel McCluskey - Family Impact and Prisoners’ Families

Quality Team of the Year Award: The finance team

And for our Values Awards…

Professional Award: Mary Goodchild - Parent and Baby Wellness

Determined Award: Karol Zwolinski - Home and Communities manager

Open-minded Award: Gina Smith and Tracey Smith - Making Days South

Big-hearted Award: Andy Walkley - Property services manager

Genuine Award: Rita Chambers - Strengthening Families head of service

Supporter of the Year Award: Cathy Campbell - Making Days North

Trustees’ Team of the Year Award: Supported Living team

A huge well done to all our really deserving winners – we’re lucky to have you on our team.

Rita Chambers

Mary Goodchild

Karol Zwolinski

Rachel McCluskey

The finance team
Supported Living team
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Funding pressures continue

Like the vast majority of health and social care providers, this year has continued to be hard work in terms 
of retaining funding. We are confident in our offer and the quality of our services, so that stands us in good 
stead for keeping hold of our funding and winning new work, however contract retention is not always in our 
control. As austerity continues, we are still seeing vital services having funding removed and the demand on 
grant funders continues to increase. Making sure we continue to provide services for people who really need our 
support is so important to what we do, but if we can’t find a sustainable 

funding source it really makes it a challenge to be both 
‘big-hearted’ (one of our values) and ensure we’re around 
for future generations. This continues to be something 
we have to weigh-up on a regular basis and sometimes 
that means making difficult decisions about continuing 
services or moving them over to other providers. 

Shared Lives turns 40

This financial year marks 40 years since Sue Newton, and 
the PSS team of 1978, set up the UK’s first Shared Lives 
placement in Liverpool. This PSS treasure has gone from 
strength to strength over the last 40 years and from its 
humble Liverpool roots has grown and developed into a national model, delivered 
by PSS amongst a whole host of other providers. However, although Shared Lives 
has been continually evolving during this time and finding lots of different ways to 
help people, one thing has stayed the same: people using Shared Lives are treated 
as just that - people -  and supported as much or 
as little as they need. With support provided in a 
homely, family environment, Shared Lives was 
designed to help people feel a sense of belonging 
and encourage them to lead the life they want to 
lead – and that’s exactly what it still does today.

Many parties were had across PSS as our 
schemes celebrated this great milestone, which 
came around officially in October 2018. As the 
largest provider of Shared Lives in the country 
with over 500 people using our services, the 
model really has come on leaps and bounds over 
the last four decades.

We’re going to be around 
for future generations

Busted
Year 3000

Pictured: Sue Newton in the back row on the right with 
some people who used Shared Lives and carers. This 
photo was taken when the scheme had not long started.

New work locally and further afield

Three new services launched in 2018/19: Lincolnshire Shared Lives, 
New Leaf Women’s Turnaround in Cheshire, as part of the European 
Social Fund and Big Lottery-funded New Leaf programme, and Prosper, 
a National Institute for Health Research-funded service with the 
University of Liverpool that empowers members of the BAMER (Black, 
Asian, Minority ethnic and Refugee) communities of Liverpool to 
become trained wellbeing mentors and promote better mental health 
amongst their communities.

New Leaf
Women’s Turnaround service
Our New Leaf Women’s Turnaround service runs in Cheshire and is part of the New Leaf Partnership to support women across Warrington, Cheshire East and Cheshire West who are in the criminal justice 
system or who are presenting with 
multiple complex needs.

Working alongside Cheshire Police and 
a whole host of other local partners, 
we provide women with targeted and 
structured support to: 
•   give them opportunities to start on a new, 

more positive path; building their confidence 
and esteem and moving them into 
education, training and employment; and;

•   tackle barriers such as mental health, 
domestic abuse, substance misuse, children 
and families, finances or accommodation 
- hoping to reduce the number of women 
going on to reoffend.

24



One-year rolling contracts

Rolling contracts continued to concern us this 
year, and we had some good outcomes with late 
notices on renewals. We’ve made it our focus to 
really emphasise to our commissioners where late 
confirmation of contracts causes problems for 
our staff and then, indirectly, the people who 
use our services. Wherever possible we’re keen 
renewals happen to reduce job insecurity, and to 
allow planning for the upcoming year, we’ll be 
continuing to work hard to reiterate this point 
and reduce the impact of this sort of process 
on our services further into the next year.

Digital developments and IT advisory audit

An IT advisory audit took place this year to look at digital skills and engagement 
with technology across PSS. In advance of our much-anticipated client 
management system, we wanted to gain a thorough understanding of where 
digital skills are at across PSS so that we could develop a plan to move 
people forwards and prepare them for an electronic future. This piece 
of work went really positively and we now have plans ready to 
get everyone up-to-speed ahead of the 2019 launch dates.

Sleep-in uncertainty

Like many social care providers, we’ve had another year of uncertainty 
around something known as the ‘sleep-in crisis’. 

In 2015 a number of care workers went to an employment tribunal claiming that 
they should be paid no less than the National Living Wage for hours worked 
through the night. Government guidance changed as a result, and in line with 
this we swiftly increased our hourly rate of pay for sleep-ins to match that 
paid for hours worked through the day. That happened in November 2015.

Fast forward to November 2017, and the Government announced that the 
higher rate should have been paid for the past six years and that employers 
like PSS should meet the bill for any back-pay due. PSS’s position has always 

been that if people are due back-pay, then they 
should receive it. However, we do have an issue with the Government’s view that we 
as providers should meet the bill. When we paid people a nightly allowance, we did so 
because that was the legal guidance at the time and the rate paid to us by our public 
sector commissioners was at that level.  

The back-pay due for third sector organisations across the UK is estimated to be £400 
million. If PSS has to meet the portion of this that is owed to our people, it’d have a 
significant impact on our finances - so it’s our responsibility to do what we can to get a 
fair outcome both for our staff and for PSS. 

During the course of this financial year there has been a lot of to-ing and fro-ing around the rate of pay for sleep-
ins and the liabilities of back-pay, therefore we have had to keep it front of mind throughout. We have a plan 
should we be required to make the repayments from our own pocket, but we are keen to fight the liability being 
placed on us and we will continue to do this. This year PSS became involved in a national campaign to get the 
Government to agree to meet the back pay bill, should it become due. 

Ruby shines on

We’ve been awarded some new funding by the Ministry of Justice for our 
Women’s Turnaround service. For a number of years, we ran our Ruby service 
from Aintree Hospital, which worked with people who’d been victims of 
domestic abuse, with the starting point being a hospital admission. Although 
the hospitals were big fans of the service, once the grant funding ran out, 
there was no more money forthcoming to keep it going. This funding from 
the Ministry of Justice will enable us to keep the spirit of Ruby alive, 
although the focus will now be on women offenders. Since the vast 
majority of women offenders experience domestic abuse at some point in 
their life, we can make a big difference here. Well done to the Women’s 
Turnaround and business development teams for securing this gem.
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Social care pay study

We have now participated in the Social Care Reward 2018-19 Pay, Terms and Conditions Benchmarking Study for 
the UK social care sector (that was a mouthful). We have recently submitted the peer group organisations that we 
want to be benchmarked against. Reports will be available for us shortly which will enable us to benchmark our 
pay and benefits for our frontline staff in social care against others in the sector.

New trustee recruitment started

Our Audit and Governance Committee has agreed that we should look to recruit up to five new trustees to make 
our team even stronger. They’re going full steam ahead to recruit someone who is an expert by experience, 
someone who has knowledge of digital technology and someone with commercial/entrepreneurial skills. The 
committee also agreed to seek trustees with legal and financial specialisms from the point of view of succession 
planning. It may well be that one very clever person is able to fill a few of these vacancies. 

Being true to ourselves when recruiting

We want the right people aboard the PSS Express, and one 
of the best ways we can attract the right people is quite 
simply to lay our organisation - our culture, brand, values 
and views - out there in its truest form, so that candidates 
know exactly what they’re signing up for. That all sounds 
a bit ominous when it’s written down, but what we mean 
is, we decided not to shy away from how things really are 
around here (in a positive way); how relaxed and friendly 
we are, how open we are and how seriously we take the 
quality of what we do and what we expect from people. 
We started producing job descriptions that embraced our 
brand, with a chatty, down-to-earth style that initially, 
reads nothing like a normally-stuffy job description. We 
started producing videos for almost all of our vacancies which feature the post manager talking 
about the job at hand and giving an introduction to the team, so candidates could put a face to a name and start 

to get a sense of our organisation from the outside looking in. Working 
alongside the candidate packs we launched last year which tell people all 
about what it’s like to work here, the aim was to further encourage people 
to be their true selves in their application and to stand out amongst our 
competition with something really different for our sector. 

This year we put this approach to the test with one of the most senior 
positions we could advertise for at PSS – our director of operations. 
We produced one of our tailored job descriptions and a job advert that 
were both written in our usual bouncy and chatty brand tone and that, 
considering the seniority of the position, felt a bit brave. However… it paid 
off, and we had lots of compliments about our approach, with one person 
who wasn’t even planning to apply for the role (he was head of maths at a 
secondary school) even emailing us just to tell us how fantastic he thought 
it was. We’re excited to say that Harriet Michael-Phillips (pictured left), our 
fab, newly-appointed director of operations, did apply – and she starts with 
us this April.

Director of operations 

Candidate pack
Becoming part of the PSS team

Let’s write you a new chapter...

Hello there, 
 

Thank you for your interest in becoming a part of the PSS team as one of our brand new trustees.  
Our trustees have a really important job to do: they take overall responsibility for our wonderful organisation: our business with a heart. That means that, as our new potential trustee, you’ll also need a big heart, too. And you’ll need an open mind, steely determination, a genuine personality and oodles of your own kind of professionalism, whatever it means to you. 
We’re looking for at least three new trustees to be part of our gang. To be a PSS trustee, your own life experience is really important: whether that means you’ve got a professional skill to bring to the table or whether that means you’re an expert by experience – a graduate of the university of life, who knows a thing or two about what a really good support service looks like and wants to make your voice heard. 

Here at PSS we have one key purpose: to help people get the most from life; whether that’s about supporting them to make their family stronger, improve their health and wellbeing, get out and about in the community or find a safe and happy home. Our trustees are committed to making sure that no-matter what, that’s what we’re doing: day in, day out. 
Did you know that PSS founded Age UK, Riverside Housing and Legal Aid, and was there at the very start of the Citizens’ Advice Bureau, amongst others? 

We turned the big 100 years old this year, and our history certainly shows what type of organisation we are. There’s more about our fascinating heritage in this pack, and how you could be joining us right in the thick of our year of celebrations.. 

We know, we’re Liverpool’s best kept secret*!

Trustees 

Candidate pack
Becoming part of the PSS team
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On 1 January 2019, PSS turned 100 years old

Founded by the wonderful Eleanor 
Rathbone back in 1919, PSS has always been 
a firecracker, beginning its life with the 
title Liverpool Personal Services Society. 
Our motto was: ‘a society for any citizen 
in difficulty’ – and that is exactly what we 
were, and what we are today. For the last 
100 years, we’ve been providing services 
that change people’s lives for the better.

From our Liverpool home, we’ve been 
responsible for starting a whole host of social 
movements, believing in and passionate about 
making sure all people matter, moving and 
shaking the first services of their kind across 
many different disciplines of social care (we 
kicked off a ton of recognisable names – from 
Age UK, Legal Aid and the Citizens’ Advice Bureau to Relate 
and Riverside Housing). Some may say we flew straight to people’s need, 
underpants over leotards and capes flapping in the wind. However, we’re far 
more humble than that. Where we saw a need for change, we approached 
gently, listened closely, imagined the possibilities and came back with a 
service that fit the bill. Thing is, even when we didn’t come up with the idea 
ourselves, those around us knew they could trust us to do what’s right.

Our founder Eleanor Rathbone said ‘what ought to be done, can be done’ and 
when everyone else was turning a blind eye or unsure of how to help people 
in their time of need, we said ‘we hear you, let’s see what we can do’. We’ve 
always been unapologetically different, a rebel with a gritty and heartfelt 
cause – and although our organisation has grown and developed in so many 
ways since 1919, that’s never changed – and it never will.

Turning the Big 100

The Beatles
Birthday

National Heritage Lottery Funding

Back in August, we successfully applied for some National Lottery Heritage funding to help us spread the word 
about the fantastic things we’ve done and the huge impact PSS has had on the world of health and social care over 
the last 100 years. 

We had a plan of all the things we’d like to do to mark our special year – and we were over the moon that this 
extra bit of money would give us the chance to really go for it. So, we got a crack team of PSS experts from all over 
the organisation on the case to help our communications team plan, find and deliver brilliant events, help us get 
the word out there about how fantastic PSS is and shout about all we’ve achieved over the years. Big thanks to 
Nichola Proctor, Janet Curzon, Lynn Learman, Jona Plath, Darren Roberts, Andy Walkley and Karol Zwolinski for 
all of their support.

The Centenary Swing 

On 25 January, we kicked off our birthday year in style 
with the PSS Centenary Swing, an extra special celebration 
of all PSS has achieved from past to present. At the Isla 
Gladstone in Everton, Liverpool, everyone got dressed up 
in their best floor-length gowns, flapper dresses, suits and 
hats as we were transported back in time to the roaring 
20s, the era PSS was born into. Not only did everyone get 
into the spirit of the event and enjoy a trip down memory 
lane, but we also celebrated the shining stars of the present 
and the future – those members of the PSS team who have 
gone above and beyond to live the PSS values, and provide 
the best quality management and services as they possibly 
can – in an extra special version of our annual Big Awards. 
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The PSS short film

Once we started digging into our archives in 
the early stages of 2018, one thing became 
really clear to our communications team: with 
so much to say about what we’ve achieved, the 
best way to bring the stories of our years to 
life is to make a short film. And thanks to our 
National Lottery Heritage Funding, in January, 
our communications team started work in 
partnership with Zut Media on what promises 
to be a fantastic look at PSS heritage – where 
we came from, where we are now and where 
we’re going. The team has ambitions to produce 
something that recounts our history with a lot 
of heart, telling some of the personal stories of the people our services have impacted, but is also impactful and 
hard-hitting, leaving viewers with the clear message we’ve stood for since 1919: unless organisations like ours 
continue to innovate and tackle the issues at hand, nothing will ever move forward. Filming started in February, 
with several familiar PSS faces (and voices) taking the plunge and agreeing to take part. Watch this space: the film’s 
due to be completed in April 2019, with a screening event planned in for June.

The PSS book

Another way we wanted to bring our stories to life was through a short book, 
chronicling some of the most impactful stories we have heard over the years. 
Research into the content began in the summertime, when Lisa and Siobhan 
from our communications team spent many a day up to their eyeballs in 
dusty books and old photographs at Liverpool Central Library, fascinated 
and brimming with pride at all the wonders of our history. The book’s 
currently being written and will be ready to publish in late 2019.

A debate series

Staying true to the PSS spirit of tackling the issues at hand, our 
National Lottery Heritage Fund bid included some money to debate 
some of the issues we’re seeing in health and social care today. We’re 
organising two events where we can gather up some of the leaders in 
health and social care to talk about how our sector can be more innovative 
in our approach to providing services, and how we can keep moving forward 
despite the current funding challenges.

Our exhibition

One of our goals for our centenary year 
is to celebrate our historical connections 
to Liverpool, and how we’ve been such a 
big part of the city’s heritage. We could 
think of no better place to do this than at 
the Museum of Liverpool, a homage to all 
things scouse born and bred (like us). We 
worked with the team at the museum to 
secure a case in the lobby, and in November, 
our communications team put a tender out 
for artists to come forward with proposals 
for how they would illustrate our heritage 
and bring our story to life in the space. We 
had some brilliant submissions, but it was 
a concept from local artist Sarah Nicholson 
that really struck a chord with us. From 
there, Sarah and our communications team 
worked closely together with the museum 
team to create something we hope everyone 
will be really proud of. Our exhibition goes 
live on 29th April 2019 and will be open 
until December 2019.
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The remainder of the Trustees’ Report constitutes the Strategic Report requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

Our performance
in 2018-2019

Financial results

Our financial results this year have been really positive with our underlying financial position being solid and 
the relocation of our head office having further firmed up our balance sheet position. Our trustees are pleased 
with the results, especially in light of the ongoing pressure placed on public sector funding. Our net income and 
expenditure, inclusive of gains and losses on investments, recorded a surplus of £0.7m. Gains on investment for 
the year totalled £0.2m with the underlying position exclusive of the gains and losses being a healthy £0.5m.

Statement of Financial Activities

Income: Our yearly income of £16.9m represents an increase of £2.2m on prior year income.

The increase is mainly due to growth in our Shared Lives services. The Norfolk and Suffolk contract which we 
won in November 2017 accounts for £1.8m of this increase.

Income spread across portfolios has remained consistent with 
prior year in our Home and Communities and Strengthening 
Families portfolios. We saw an increase in our Shared Lives 
portfolio from 51% to 59%, due mainly to Shared Lives 
Norfolk and Suffolk, and a decrease in our Promoting 
Wellbeing portfolio from 9% to 5%. This reduction was 
due to our Be Well Barnsley service ending during 
the year. 

Expenditure: Our yearly expenditure of £16.4m 
represented an increase on prior year expenditure 
of £2.1m. As with the increase in income, the 
increase in expenditure during the year is primarily 
due to our Shared Lives service in Norfolk and 
Suffolk which saw an increase of £1.8m, directly in 
line with the income increase.

The impact of the increase in National Minimum 
Wage is also included in the adverse variance against 
the prior year.

Gains and losses on investment: During the year a total 
realised and unrealised gain on investments of £0.2m 
was achieved, with 83% of the gain being unrealised.

Other gains and losses: during the year we relocated our 
head office away from the city centre towards North 
Liverpool. We did this to be closer to the people who use 
our services, and also to release the property value held in a city centre asset, which will ensure we are around for 
future generations, in line with our Big Plan.

The move resulted in a gain on disposal of £991k.

We also had our new building, Eleanor Rathbone House, revalued after a refurbishment project had finished, 
which resulted in a gain of £469k.

During the year our Pensions Trust Growth Plan pension scheme deficit was revalued, and brought in a 
favourable movement of £235k, now standing at £1m, with a robust payment plan in place.

Income
2018/19
£16.9m

59%

Income by Portfolio:

24%

5%

9%

3%

  Shared Lives    Home and Communities

  Promoting Wellbeing   Strengthening Families

 Other
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Balance Sheet

Our overall increase in funds for the year was £2.4m.

Working capital: Our liquidity position has remained healthy with £1.8m being held in cash at year-end. The 
organisation is able to cover its immediate liabilities by a factor of 2.3.

The total creditor position has reduced by £0.3m from £2.5m prior year to £2.2m current year. This is due to a 
decrease in our pension deficit position held with The Pensions Trust which included the revaluation exercise and 
also payments made during the year. This is a multi-employer scheme, with a calculated net present value of future 
deficit contributions relating to PSS of £1.0m, shown as a liability as at the balance sheet date. There is an ongoing 
plan in place to pay affordable additional contributions with the intention of clearing the debt over an agreed period.

Debt: We continue to be debt free.

Investments: The value of our investments has increased against prior year from £3.2m to £3.6m. The increase 
is due to an improvement in the markets and also £0.3m held in cash which was invested into the investment 
portfolios during the course of the year.

Our investment strategy’s primary aims are as follows:

•  To achieve a balanced return from income and capital growth while accepting a moderate degree of risk.

•  To maintain the real value of income in order to be even-handed between present and future beneficiaries.

•  To maintain the real value of capital in order to achieve the above and to potentially facilitate periodic capital 
withdrawal.

Over the year to 31 March, the investments have risen 8.6% in total return terms which is ahead of both ARC 
Charity Steady Growth (6.0%) and the tailored composite benchmark (6.6%). Investment returns were also ahead of 
CPI+3 over the three years.

Our investments are held in a combination of investment funds managed by Rathbones Investment Management 
Ltd and comprise of equities, fixed income securities and cash.

Our external investment managers provide a discretionary service within agreed limits which is monitored 
against an appropriate benchmark and reviewed on a regular basis by the trustees.

As part of our commitment to ethical investment, we do not make any investments directly with the tobacco sector.

Reserves: Our reserves policy outlines the level of free reserves that PSS holds in order to ensure we can cover 
our current cash flow needs and potential future obligations. This is done with the objective that we would be 
able to continue our work if faced with difficult financial times, whilst having time to adjust our business strategy, 
and additionally maximise the funds available to fund charitable activities. By definition, our free reserves are 
unrestricted reserves less tangible fixed assets.

Our balance of free reserves currently stands at £3.8m. This includes approximately six weeks’ worth of 
anticipated expenditure and the remaining balance being our Transformation and Development fund, which 
currently stands at £1.9m. This is reviewed regularly by the trustees.

Trustees consider the level of free reserves held to be satisfactory.

Restricted reserves: Our restricted funds are to be used for detailed purposes as specified by the original objectives 
of those funders. Three of the restricted funds; Child Welfare, Mountford Fund and Liverpool Queen Victoria 
Fund have been invested and the income arising is spent on the specified purpose.

Key performance indicators (KPIs) 2018/19

This year we continued to report on a number of important key performance indicators across various areas of the 
business, offering an ‘at a glance’ picture of corporate health for our Board and Sub-committees to reassure them 
on our progress against our plan.

KPI 18/19
Q1

18/19
Q2

18/19
Q3

18/19
Q4

Year-
end 

result
Commentary

Bids submitted with 
an innovation focus 

(Target = 33% of bids)

50% 50% 0% 50% 38% With 5 out of 13 bids submitted 
having an innovation focus, we 
have exceeded our target and but 
have not improved on last year’s 
performance.

Progress against 
annual growth target

(Target = 100%)

40% 56% 63% 77% 77% At the end of the year, we  have 
secured 77% of our growth target.

Regulated services 
compliant 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% All regulated services remain 
compliant.
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Managing external pressures: funding

As an organisation that receives the majority of its income through contracts with the public sector we, like 
many others, are feeling the impact of the funding cuts that are taking hold across the UK. This means that 
service pricing and value for money are absolutely central to our offer and retention is key to our future success.

Adherence to our Business Development Strategy which has clear objectives around sustainability and growth 
has enabled us to maintain a consistent approach to bids and tenders which has enabled us to retain and secure 
new business.

In 2018-2019 we retained funding around key contracts including:

•  Wellbeing

•  Liverpool Spinning World and Seedlings

•  Community Development service

We’ve also built on our growth strategy by winning new contracts including:

•  Lincolnshire Shared Lives       

•  Wirral Shared Lives Plus  

•  New Leaf          

•  Ruby in Turnaround

•  TRIO Extra            

•  Prosper

Work that ended during the year:

•  Be Well Barnsley

•  Independent Supporters (extended for six months)

•  Linbury Trust

•  Homeshare

Risk management

The Board of Trustees has ultimate responsibility for the management of risk across PSS. However, delegated 
authority has been passed to the Audit and Governance Sub-committee to maintain a framework of risk 
management and control across the organisation.

We have a cross-organisational risk register that sits at leadership level and is assessed by the Audit and 
Governance Sub-committee, and the Board quarterly. Any changes in the potential impact and or interventions 
around these risks are discussed at these meetings. Underneath this sits a directorate risk register and 
underneath that a service register. All risk registers are real-time active documents and formally re-assessed 
each month at team meetings. We have listed below the top four risks taken from our risk register. 

1. Financial risk - relating to contract margins squeeze

The current economic climate remains challenging, specifically the financial challenges arising from the National 
Minimum Wage legislation. We continue to mitigate financial risk by focusing on securing new contracts 
through our Business Innovation Strategy. We have a high level long term financial plan that consider the 
financial risks and how they can be mitigated.

In terms of investments, PSS is exposed to market price risks arising from movements in the value of shares 
quoted on various markets. An external investment manager is employed to mitigate this risk; this individual 
works within guidelines set out by the trustees.

The trustees believe that PSS’ assets are available and adequate to fulfil its charitable obligations.

2. Financial risk - relating to potential backdated ‘sleep in’ liability

On 13 July 18, the Court of Appeal reversed an employment tribunal judgment against Mencap, which had ruled 
that sleep-in shift workers should be paid the full minimum wage instead of a flat-rate for each shift, which is 
common practice in the sector.

In February 2019 the Supreme Court granted Unison permission to appeal the Court of Appeal ruling, however 
the hearing will not commence until February 2020 with a decision expected by July 2020.

During the year PSS, on the advice of HMRC, undertook a full self-review of our compliance with National 
Minimum Wage regulations. We also completed a Social Care Compliance Scheme declaration form which 
showed a nil return.

On this basis PSS does not believe a provision or contingent liability is required at this time.
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3. Financial risk - relating to pension deficit

PSS participate in The Pensions Trust Growth Plan, a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme managed 
by the Pension Trust. The pension scheme is currently carrying a significant deficit, backed up by a robust 
payment plan - see note 9 to the Financial Statements.

PSS has entered into a funding agreement with the Pension Trust to contribute towards the scheme deficit and 
recognises a liability for this obligation. The valuation is conducted every three years, and based on a number of 
factors, can increase or decrease the deficit position.

PSS are currently working with an industry expert to progress our strategy in this area.

4. Operational risk

Ensuring safe and excellent delivery of services is key to our mission and compliance is managed through a 
specialist team led by our head of quality and compliance. This is vital in ensuring key risks around service 
delivery including safeguarding, equal opportunities and human rights are managed. The head of quality 
and compliance works alongside the director of services to ensure our services meet regulatory standards, 
information governance standards and in addition exceed the expectations of the people who use our services 
through supporting the continuous improvement and development of our services.

5. Financial risk – Brexit

PSS has reviewed the potential impact of the United Kingdom’s departure from the European Union, including 
the possibility of a ‘no-deal’ scenario. We believe that there would be limited impact on our staffing, suppliers and 
contracts however we will continue to monitor this.

Auditor

In respect of each trustee at the date the Trustees’ Report is signed:

•  So far as we are aware, there is no information needed by the charity’s auditor in connection with preparing 
their report (relevant audit information) of which they are unaware, and;

•  as the trustees of the charity we have taken all steps that we ought to have taken in order to make ourselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

A resolution to reappoint BDO LLP as auditors for the ensuing year will be proposed.

Signed on behalf of the trustees.

Hilary Berg 
Vice-chair

Samantha Proffitt
Honorary Treasurer

32



Thanks to staff

The trustees of PSS would like to thank the following 425 staff who worked for us during 2018/19. 

Christian Aboagye, Julie Adams, Kelly Ainsworth, Olufunmilayo Aje, Rebecca Algieri, Nikita Allen, Jalal Alrakami, Conor

Anderson, Jessica Anderson, Rebecca Anderson, Claire Apea-Agyei, Alison Arnold, Simon Atkiss, James Ball, Chloe Bannister, Emma 

Bannon, Naomi Bateren, Ann Batt, Ann Bell, Robert Bell, Sean Berry, Pradnya Bhatkulkar, Leah Billows, Rachel Bishop, Carl Black, 

Rebecca Bloor-Steen, Isabel Blundell, Terence Boughton, Susan Bowness, Sandra Bracegirdle, Thomas Bradley, Samuel Bratherton, 

Elizabeth Bray, Lyn Brittles, Chloe Brocklehurst, Heather Bromilow, Alex Brooks, Robin Bruce, Evelyn Bulger, Roy Burrows, Angela 

Burton, Emma Butcher, Amy Butler, Gabriella Butler, Beverley Buxton, Jane Carpenter, Chloe Carroll, Jacqueline Carroll, Fatou Ceesay 

Danso, Brenda Chambers, Rita Chambers, Victoria Chambers, Julie Chan, Jane Chesworth, Deborah Chudley, Katarzyna Ciesielska, 

Toni-Marie Clague, Pamela Clare, Jane Clarke, Sandra Clarke, Warren Clarke, Mark Clausen, Maria Clequin, Ellen Clitheroe, Jane 

Colligan, Anna Collins, Catherine Collins, Heather Cooke, Michelle Cooksey, Sharon Cooper, Emily Cooper-Grace, Oliver Cooper-Grace, 

Joanne Costi, Susan Cowan, David Cowhig, James Cowhig, Angelique Cowley, Jade Cox, Sarah Crane, Andrew Crawford, Gillian 

Creevy, Stephanie Crossland, Jennifer Cubells, Julie Culvin, Judith Cummings, Christina Cunningham, Laura Curran, Kayleigh Curtis, 

Janet Curzon, Meabh Daly, Joanne Davie, Elizabeth Davies, Lisa Davies, Denise Deary, Andrew Delamere, Kyle Dennis, Natalie Desilva, 

Keith Devereux, Rosemary Devereux, Sarah Dewick, Sharon Dickinson, Gordon Dinn, Lesley Dixon, Sarah Dobie, Habakkuk Doe, Gill 

Dolan, Nicola Donaghey, Carol Donnelly, Ann Marie Dover, Hannah Doyle, Pamela Doyle, Rebecca Duggan, Tessa Dunbavin, Debbie 

Dunne, Karen Dunning, Emma Durkin, Leonard Edmondson, Ian Edwards, Paul Edwards, Sharon Edwards, Carol Ellis, Lewis Elward, 

David Emberton, Ronald English, Faye Evans, Ahmed Farah, Diane Feeney, Caroline Fellows, Anthony Fisher-Jones, Keith Fitton, 

Jayne Fitzgerald, Lili-Jo Fitzpatrick, Jacqueline Fleming, James Fletcher, Jayne Flynn, Bernadette Foley, Mark Foley, Michelle Ford, 

Pamela Foy, Elizabeth Freeman, Michael Galbraith, Gillian Gargan, Stephen Gash, Peter Gill, Mary Goodchild, Christopher Goodwin, 

Stephanie Goodwin, Anna Graf-Osemwegie, Susan Graham, Stephen Graves, Claire Gray, Susan Greatwich, Donna Greaves, Anthony 

Green, Vincent Griffith, Kirsty Griffiths, Helen Grunshaw, Donna Hall, Allan Handslip, Tina Hanratty, Marcus Hardy, Norma Harris, 

Liza Hatfield, Pauline Henderson, Caroline Hendry, Maria Hickinbottom, Catherine Higham, Jane Hines, Janice Hirrell, Lauren Hirrell, 

Zoe Hji-Christoforou, Helen Hodgson, Paula Hogg, Nataliey Holden, Clare Holt, Janice Hooper, Teresa Hooper, Susan Houghton, 

Connor Howard, Trevor Howard, Julie Howarth, Amanda Howe, Joanne Hughes, Julie Humphreys, Karen Debra Hyland, Veronica 

Hynes, Lisa Irvine, Carla Jackson, Victoria Jackson, Sj Jaimison, Andrew Jervis, Deborah Johnson, Alison Jones, Courtney Jones, Diane 

Jones, Ian Jones, Ian Jones, Katrina Jones, Paul Jones, Rachel Jones, Katy Joyce, Diane Kane, Gillian Kane, Reena Kaypee, Caroline 

Keefe, Anne Kilroy, Elizabeth King, Sean Kirk, Robert Knight, Aleksandra Kopera, Ellen Kristensen, Mario Kyriacou, Casey Lalley-

McDonnell, Victoria Lander, Charlotte Landry, Heather Lane, Sheila Lane, Michalina Lasak, Saskia Lavalette, Lynn Learman, David 

Leary, Kyle Lee, Michelle Lee, Elaine Leslie, Matthew Leslie, Katherine Letch, Kyle Lewis, Lee Lewis, Jake Lord, Rebecca Lunt, Gemma 

Lyons, Annette Mackinnon, Sean Margison, Suzanne Marks, Nicola Martin, Jennifer Mason, Janice Mather, Kathleen Maunsell-

Cogley, Jill May, Olivia-Mae McArthur, Kerris McBride, Kirsty Mccartney, Margaret McCartney, Rachel Mccluskey, Terrie McCoy, 

Julia McDermott, Julia McDermott, Angela McDonnell, Paula McDonnell, Catherine McGarry, Sharon McGee, Nicola Mcgovern, 

Emma McGregor, Mark McHale, Michelle McHale, John McLean, Lynsey McLoughlin, Heather McMaddy, Joseph McNicholas, 

Francis Meadows, Brendan Meethan, Adele Melling, Troy Melvin, Angela Milliken, Lynda Mills, Melinda Mitchell, Kirsty Montgomery, 

Courtney Moon, Denise Moon, Ceri Moore, Karen Moore, Rachael Moore, Sophie Moore-Jones, Christopher Moreton, Janette Morton, 

Patrick Morton, Maddison Mullins, Andrew Murphy, Jane Murphy, Luke Murphy, Michael Murphy, Victoria Murrell, Jean Naylor, 

Barry Neil, Keith Newman, Rebecca Newman, Rachel Newport, Louis Nodwell,  Pamela Oden, Sandra Odogu, Lisa O’Grady, Siobhan 

O’Hagan, Sarah Oliver, Susan Oliver, Susan Orme, Lisa O’rourke, Jack Osborne, Maria Owens, Hannah Parr, Louise Pearce, Ashley 

Pennington, Karen Phillips, Simon Plaistow, Susanne Plath, Alison Plumb, Christina Pomford, Karen Pooley, Bethany Potter, Maria 

Prendergast, Henrieta Pribulova, Nichola Proctor, Amanda Purcell, Julia Purvis, Dawn Quayle, Quirat-Ul-Anne Quayum, Michael 

Quinn, Christine Rackstraw, Lorna Rackstraw,  Suzanne Radford, Sandi Rance, Abigail Reese, Elizabeth Reeves, Irene Reid, Jayne Reid, 

Mandy Riley, Alan Rimmer, Darren Roberts, Gareth Roberts, James Roberts, Joanne Roberts, Ledine Roberts, Patricia Roberts, Lynn 

Robertson, Brian Robinson, Karina Rogers, Joyce Roland, Amy Ross, Marie Ross, Karen Rowland, Carole Ruddick, Colin Rushton, 

Samantha Rwodzi, Dave Sadler, Marie Scanlan, Jessica Schorah, Shelley Scott, Mary Seasman, Annette Sedgwick Hands, Julie Sharman, 

Geoffrey Shaw, Bernadette Sheridan, Bernadette Sheridan, Rodney Silver, Anne Simms, Rushell Small, Debra Smallshaw, Chelsea Smith, 

Georgia Smith, Gina Smith, Jordan Smith, Matthew Smith, Tracey Smith, Maria Stamiri, Gemma Stanley, Thomas Stanley, Dorcas 

Steadman, Luke Stevenson, Suzanne Storey, Rachael Stott, Collette Stregapede, Marina Susil-pryke, Joanne Swale, Bridget Sweeney, 

Pasang Devi Tamang, Gillian Tarpey, Hollie Taylor, Janice Taylor, Kenneth Taylor, Leanne Taylor, Samantha Thain, Jon-paul Thomas, 

Wendy Thomas, Derek Thompson, David Thorogood, Emma Tipton, Victoria Tollitt, Ian Travis, Rachel Traynor, Matthew Unsworth, 

Jane Urmson, Anisa Veneti, Patricia Wainwright, Andrew Walkley, Justin Wall, Jason Ward, Joseph Waring, Jane Watkins, Karen 

Wells, Siobhan Whittaker, David Williams, Helen Williams, Jessica Williams, John Williams, Patricia Williams, Lucy Williamson, Chloe 

Willingham, Samantha Wills, David Wilson, Melissa Wilson, Sarah Wilson, Kimberley Worthington, Yuekai Wu, Joseph Youds, 

William Young, Sarah Zielonka, Karol Zwolinski.
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Trustees’ responsibilities

The trustees (who are also directors of PSS (UK) for the purposes of company law) are responsible 
for preparing the Strategic Report, the Trustees’ Annual Report and the Financial Statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the trustees to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under 
company law the trustees must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of resources, including the 
income and expenditure, of the charity for that period.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the trustees are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the Financial Statements;

•  prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will 
continue in business.

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
charity’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and enable 
them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

Financial Statements are published on the charity’s website in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements, which may vary from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the charity’s website is the responsibility of the trustees. The trustees’ 
responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the Financial Statements contained therein.

34



Independent 
Auditors’ Report

Opinion

We have audited the Financial Statements of PSS (UK) (“the Charitable Company”) for the year ended 31 March 
2019 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and 
notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the Financial Statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the Charitable Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of its 
incoming resources and application of resources for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Charitable Company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements relevant to our audit of the Financial Statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions related to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

•  the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Financial Statements is not 
appropriate; or

•  the trustees have not disclosed in the Financial Statements any identified material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the Charitable Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the Financial Statements are authorised 
for issue. 

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the Financial 
Statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information. 

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

•  the information given in the Trustees’ Report, which includes the Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report 
prepared for the purposes of Company Law, for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are 
prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements; and

•  the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, which are included in the Trustees’ Report, have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Charitable Company and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatement in the Strategic Report or the Trustee’s report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion;

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

•  the Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement, the trustees (who are also the directors of 
the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the Financial 
Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determines is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the Charitable Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the Charitable Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

We have been appointed as auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with the Act and 
relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located at the Financial 
Reporting Council’s (“FRC’s”) website at:www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Charitable Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Charitable 
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Charitable Company and the Charitable Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed. 

Hamid Ghafoor (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor
Liverpool, United Kingdom
(DATE)

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered no. OC305127).
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Statement of 
Financial Activities

2019 2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 2018

Unrestricted Designated Restricted Total Unrestricted Designated Restricted Total

Note £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Income and endowments from:                      2

Donations and legacies 175,421 - 42,838 218,259 18,172 - 31,676 49,848

Charitable activities 15,901,278 - 193,040 16,094,318 13,511,635 - 450,429 13,962,064

Other trading activities - - 328,732 328,732 - - 361,253 361,253

Investments 71,922 - 32,839 104,761 63,331 - 32,652 95,983

Other         106,499 - - 106,499 151,239 - - 151,239

Total 16,255,120 - 597,449 16,852,569 13,744,377 - 876,010 14,620,387

Expenditure on:                                               3

Raising funds 3,965  - - 3,965 3,883  -  - 3,883

Charitable activities: 

- standard expenditure 15,741,473                   - 596,309 16,337,782 13,378,060                   - 893,564 14,271,624

- pension exceptional costs            38,225                   -                 - 38,225 42,437                   -                 - 42,437

Total 15,783,663 - 596,309 16,379,972 13,424,380 - 893,564 14,317,944

Net gains/(losses) on investments 159,760                   - 36,443 196,203 (48,203)                   - (21,995) (70,198)

Net income/(expenditure)         631,217  - 37,583 668,800 271,794  - (39,549) 232,245

Transfers between funds          (82,200)                   - 82,200                      -                      -                   -                 -                  - 

Other recognised gains/(losses)

Gains/(losses) on disposal of property 4   990,856                   -                 - 990,856                      -                   -                 -                 - 

Gains/(losses) on revaluation of fixed assets 4 469,281                   -                 - 469,281 -                   -                 - -

Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension scheme - - - (177,000) - - (177,000)

Gain/(loss) on revaluation of pension liability 9 234,710 - 234,710 - - - -

   

Net movement in funds 2,243,863 - 119,783 2,363,647 94,794 - (39,549) 55,245

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward 4,689,633                   - 690,318   5,379,951 4,594,839                   - 729,867 5,324,706

Total funds carried forward 6,933,496                   -      810,101 7,743,598 4,689,633                   - 690,318 5,379,951

PSS has no recognised gains and losses other than those included above.   
All operations are continuing. The notes on pages 40-51 form part of these accounts.
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Balance Sheet
at 31 March 2019

Note 2019 2018

£ £

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 4 2,739,278 1,863,747

Investment property 5 440,000 -

Investments 6 3,600,609 3,183,159

6,779,887 5,046,906

Current assets

Debtors 7 1,308,144 1,568,694

Cash at bank and in hand 1,817,386 1,259,503

3,125,530 2,828,197

Liabilities

Amounts falling due within one year 8 1,342,132 1,300,240

Net current assets 1,783,398 1,527,957

Total assets less current liabilities 8,563,285 6,574,863

Liabilities

Amounts falling due greater than one year:

Pension deficit contribution 8, 9 819,687 1,194,912

819,687 1,194,912

Total net assets 7,743,598 5,379,951

The funds of the charity 10

Restricted funds 810,101 690,318

Unrestricted funds:

General reserve 6,286,518 3,485,845

Fixed asset revaluation reserve 646,979 1,203,788

7,743,598 5,379,951

Hilary Berg 
Vice-chair

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25th September 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

The notes on pages 40-51 form part of these accounts.
Company registration number 00214077.

Samantha Proffitt
Honorary Treasurer
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The notes on pages 40-51 form part of these accounts.

2019 2018

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 589,813 (15,668)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Dividends, interest and rents from investments 104,761 95,983

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 2,500,000 -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,415,443) (46,555)

Proceeds from sale of investments 585,970 176,773

Purchase of investments (807,218) (206,313)

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (31,930) 19,888

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period 557,883 4,220

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 1,259,503 1,255,283

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 1,817,386     1,259,503 

Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities

Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the SOFA) 668,800 232,245

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charges                         99,192 99,088

Expenditure charged against profit on sale of property (39,144) -

(Gains)/losses on investments (196,203) 70,198

Dividends, interest and rents from investments (104,761) (95,983)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 260,551 (110,939)

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (98,622) (210,277)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 589,813 (15,668)

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand 1,817,386 1,259,503

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,817,386 1,259,503

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice; 
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) effective 1 January 2015 
(Charities SORP (FRS 102), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102), the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Act 2011.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except that 
investments are stated at market value, and freehold land and buildings are carried at valuation.

The company has a £1 investment in a dormant subsidiary. Consolidated accounts have not been prepared on the 
grounds of materiality. The accounts therefore present information about the company only and not about its 
group.

The trustees confirm that the charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

Going concern

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which principally assumes that the 
company will continue to receive grants and fees at a sustainable level.

The directors and management are aware of the potential impact of further national and local government 
spending reviews on the company and the impact of the living wage. Over the past year, we have fully adhered to 
our reserves strategy and produced an updated financial plan that has been agreed by the trustees.

On this basis and taking into account the levels of cash and investments currently held, the directors consider it 
appropriate to prepare the Financial Statements on a going concern basis. 

Income and expenditure

Service income represents the amount of grants and fees receivable for the year and is credited to incoming 
resources when the services have been completed. Income relating to a future period is deferred.

Donations and legacies are recognised when receipt is probable and the value can be measured reliably.

Investment income is recognised when receivable for unrestricted services and in accordance with restrictions 
for restricted services.

The contribution of volunteers is not quantified in financial terms. 

Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis and is allocated between:

•  expenditure incurred on the fulfilment of the charity’s objectives (charitable activities);

•  expenditure incurred directly in the effort to raise voluntary contributions (costs of generating funds); and

•  expenditure incurred in the governance of the charity.

Any unexpended income on services which relates to grants or donations which must be expended in the 
following year is taken to creditors as ‘Grants and donations received in advance’, and shown as deferred income. 
The outturns of other services, whose income exceeds expenditure or whose expenditure exceeds income, are 
taken to reserves.

Allocation of overheads

PSS has a significant degree of centralisation of services such as human resources, business development, finance, 
IT and quality and compliance.

The costs of these centralised services are allocated to individual services on the basis of actual service 
expenditure. This ensures a fair and transparent allocation of costs and is in line with accepted practices within 
the voluntary sector.
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Fund accounting

Restricted funds are to be used for specific purposes laid down by the donor. Expenditure for those purposes is 
charged to the fund, together with a fair allocation of overheads and support costs.

Unrestricted funds are donations and other incoming resources received or generated for expenditure on the 
general objectives of the charity.

Investments

Investments are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising on the revaluation 
of investments are, together with the realised gains and losses arising on the sale of investments, shown in the 
statement of financial activities as net gains/(losses) on investments.

Tangible fixed assets

Properties, including land and buildings, are included at fair value as at the balance sheet date. A full valuation 
is attained from a qualified valuer, for each property at regular intervals, and specifically in any year were the 
trustees believe there has been a material change in value.

Revaluation gains or losses (which are not considered to be impairment losses) on assets held for the charity’s 
own use are included in the SOFA under the section for other recognised gains and losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets, excluding land, less their 
residual values, on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

The following depreciation rates are used:

Furnishings and fittings   20%

Office equipment and minibuses  25%

Freehold property   2%

Leasehold property   2%

Property valuation are split as follows:

     Land   Building

Eleanor Rathbone House   25%  75%

Other property    75%  25%

The split for Eleanor Rathbone House has been used on the advice of the independent valuers, who deem the 
majority of the value to be in the building. The ‘other’ properties however are much older and are therefore 
deemed to hold the majority of their value in the land.

Service-based assets, and assets individually costing below £250 are written off fully in the year of acquisition.

Investment property

A portion of the leasehold property, Eleanor Rathbone House, is leased out to a third party and is therefore 
recognised as investment property as it meets the definition of a mixed use property. Investment property is held 
at fair value as at the balance sheet date. The portion of the Eleanor Rathbone House held as investment property 
is one sixth of the total fair value, which represents the area of the property which the lessee occupies.

Leased equipment

Payments in respect of operating lease agreements (being agreements not giving rights approximating to 
ownership) have been charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when PSS (UK) becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price 
(including transaction costs). PSS (UK) only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify 
as basic financial instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and 
subsequently measured at their settlement value.

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.

Creditors and provisions are recognised where PSS (UK) has a present obligation resulting from a past event that 
will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be 
measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their settlement amount 
after allowing for any trade discounts due.
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Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits

PSS participate in the Growth Plan scheme, a multi-employer defined contribution pension scheme managed by 
The Pensions Trust (TPT). It has not been possible to identify the underlying assets and liabilities belonging to the 
charity. As such, pension contributions are accounted for as if the scheme were a defined contribution pension 
scheme. Contributions to the pension fund are charged to the SOFA.

PSS has also entered into a funding agreement with TPT to contribute towards the scheme deficit and recognises 
a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit contributions payable 
under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The interest cost of the debt is reflected in the SOFA with the 
payments (less interest) being offset against the liability.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either the charity’s decision to terminate 
an employee’s employment; or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those 
benefits.

Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the Financial Statements, the trustees are required to make estimates and judgements. The matters 
considered below are considered to be the most important in understanding the judgements that are involved in 
preparing the Financial Statements and the uncertainties that could impact the amounts reported in the results of 
operations, financial position and cash flows.

•  Pension scheme deficit reduction payments - As explained at note 9, there is a deficit reduction plan in place 
in respect of the PSS (UK) membership of the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. FRS 102 requires a liability to 
be recognised in respect of the present value of future contributions payable under the terms of the deficit 
recovery plan. The incorporation of this liability in the Financial Statements involves the exercise of judgement 
in a number of areas, including the selection of an appropriate discount rate.

•  Valuation of freehold and long-leasehold property –In order to determine the fair value, advice is taken from 
independent qualified valuers. In this context, judgement is exercised in a number of areas, including local 
market conditions and investor demand.

•  Classification of leases - Whether leases entered into by PSS (UK), as lessee, is operating leases or finance 
leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease basis.

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty include:

•  Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and impairment – Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful 
lives taking into account residual lives, where appropriate.

•  Provision for bad debts – Bad debts is provided against when there is objective evidence that the debt will not 
be recoverable.

2. Incoming resources
2019 2018

Analysis of income: £ £

Grants:

Liverpool CCG - 210,421

Liverpool City Council 4,500 30,190

Parent Infant Partnership - 11,500

Social Finance - 52,548

Ministry of Justice 50,918 -

NHS Wirral CCG 27,500 -

Children in Need 28,026 -

Other 82,096 145,770

Total grant income 193,040 450,429

Fees for charitable services provided 15,901,278 13,511,635

Donations from trusts and individuals 216,757 49,848

Big Lottery Fund 328,732 361,253

Legacies 1,502 -

Investment income 104,761 95,983

Sundry income 106,499 151,239

Total income 16,852,569 14,620,387
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2019 2018

Movements in deferred income £ £

Grant income deferred at 1.4.2018 28,782 120,480

Grants receivable in the year 197,245 358,731

Grant income deferred at 31.3.2019 (32,987) (28,782)

Grant income recognised for the year 193,040 450,429

Donation income deferred at 1.4.2018 - -

Donations received in the year 218,259 49,848

Donation income deferred at 31.3.2019 - -

Donation income recognised for the year 218,259 49,848

Big Lottery Fund income deferred at 1.4.2018 118,047 117,242

Big Lottery Fund income receivable in the year 289,748 362,058

Big Lottery Fund income deferred at 31.3.2019 (79,063) (118,047)

Big Lottery Fund income recognised in the year 328,732 361,253

Fee income deferred at 1.4.2018 124,093 73,143

Fee income receivable in the year 15,955,507 13,562,585

Fee income deferred at 31.3.2019 (178,322) (124,093)

Fee income recognised in the year 15,901,278 13,511,635

2019
Restated

2018

Analysis of income by operational area:

Homes and Communities 4,039,490 3,937,333

Shared Lives 9,946,467 7,512,016

Promoting Wellbeing 810,862 1,309,779

Strengthening Families 1,515,713 1,624,597

Other 540,037 236,662

16,852,569 14,620,387

The operational areas listed above are a reclassification to allocate income more appropriately, based on the operations of the charity. 
This is purely a reallocation and has no impact on the SOFA or net income; the disclosure for 2018 has been restated on the same basis.

2019

Big Lottery Fund analysis
Income deferred 

1.4.2018
Income receivable 

for the year
Income recognised 

for the year
Income deferred 

at 31.3.2019

£ £ £ £

Family Impact 0010266218 6,435 78,214 (78,105) 6,544

Parent and Baby Wellness 0010300227 13,333 160,000 (160,000) 13,333

The Ruby Project 0010255361 88,279 61,534 (90,627) 59,186

Homeshare 10,000 (10,000) - -

118,047 289,748 (328,732) 79,063

2018

Big Lottery Fund analysis
Income deferred 

1.4.2017
Income receivable 

for the year
Income recognised 

for the year
Income deferred 

at 31.3.2018

£ £ £ £

Family Impact 0010266218       21,336 76,953 (91,854) 6,435

Parent and Baby Wellness 0010300227                  - 120,000 (106,667) 13,333

The Ruby Project 0010255361 81,279 123,069 (116,069) 88,279

Homeshare       14,627 42,036 (46,663) 10,000

117,242 362,058 (361,253) 118,047

2019 2018

Investment income includes: £ £

Income from UK listed investments 83,365 81,085

Income from non-UK listed investments 14,994 13,818

Interest on deposit funds 6,402 1,080

104,761 95,983 43



3. Expenditure
2019

Expenditure on charitable activities
Direct

Costs
Support

Costs
Governance

Costs
Pension

Exceptional Costs Total

£ £ £ £

Home and Communities 3,326,722 410,602 14,919 9,158 3,761,401

Shared Lives 8,620,472 1,063,984 38,658 23,731 9,746,845

Promoting Wellbeing 626,414 77,315 2,809 1,724 708,262

Strengthening Families 1,311,926 161,925 5,883 3,612 1,483,346

Other 676,153 - - - 676,153

Costs of generating voluntary income            3,965 -                   -                  -            3,965

 14,565,652 1,713,826         62,269        38,225   16,379,972

Restated 2018

Expenditure on charitable activities
Direct

Costs
Support

Costs
Governance

Costs
Pension

Exceptional Costs Total

£ £ £ £

Home and Communities 3,225,037 377,333 15,620 11,253 3,629,243

Shared Lives 6,455,180 755,740 31,284 22,538 7,264,742

Promoting Wellbeing 1,122,325 130,164 5,388 3,882 1,261,759

Strengthening Families 1,372,399 159,778 6,614 4,765 1,543,556

Other 614,761 - - - 614,761

Costs of generating voluntary income           3,883                 -                    -                   -            3,883

 12,793,585 1,423,015         58,906        42,438   14,317,944

Expenditure on charitable activities is the cost of providing charitable services, including staff costs, and elements 
of service managed centrally. Governance costs relate to the costs of compliance with statutory requirements, 
including the external audit. The portfolios listed above are a reclassification to allocate expenditure on charitable 
activities more appropriately, based on the operations of the charity. This is purely a reallocation and has no impact 
on the SOFA or net income; the disclosure for 2018 has been restated on the same basis.

Governance costs 2019 2018

£ £

Statutory audit fees 18,984 19,140

Other fees to auditors 13,861 13,074

Salaries 29,362 26,692

Legal and professional costs               62            -    

      62,269    58,906

The following amounts are included in expenditure:    

Depreciation: tangible fixed assets, owned 99,192  99,088

Operating lease rentals:  

Land and building 145,680  150,844

Other 25,165  25,297

Auditors remuneration - audit services 18,984  19,140

Staff costs

Salaries 6,098,545  5,970,910

Social Security costs 452,608  442,831

Other pension costs 343,564  300,844

 6,894,717  6,714,585

Average no. of employees 337  346

Analysis:    

Charitable activities 335  344

Governance 2  2

 337  346 44



2019 2018

The emoluments of higher-paid employees fell within the following ranges: No.  No.

£60,000 - £70,000 1  2

£70,001 - £80,000                     1                      1 

£90,001 - £110,000 1  -

The key management personnel comprise of the chief executive officer, director of services, director of finance 
and people and director of business development and innovation. The total gross salaries and employer pension 
contributions of the key management was £385,351 (2018: £352,136). During the year three higher-paid employees 
(2018: 3) participated in the defined contribution pension scheme. Employer’s pension contributions for higher-paid 
staff were £23,968 (2018: £18,503). The total paid during the year on redundancy and termination payments was 
£81,268 (2018: £30,457).

No trustee or person with a family or business connected with a trustee received remuneration in the year from 
the charity. No expenses (2018: £142) were reimbursed to any (2018: 1) member of the trustees. Professional 
indemnity insurance that covers our trustees was paid during the year at a cost of £2,352 (2018: £1,724).

A liability is recognised for short-term compensated absence arising from employee entitlement to paid annual 
leave. The value of this provision is £53,085 (2018: £45,266).

During the year fees were paid to 430 (2018: 383) self-employed Shared Lives carers. These fees are categorised as 
charitable expenditure and are not considered when calculating staff costs.

4. Tangible fixed assets

Freehold property Leasehold property

Seel St. Other
Eleanor

Rathbone House
Furnishings
and Fittings

Office 
Equipment Minibuses Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Cost/valuation

Balance at 1.4.2018 1,500,000 273,000 - 100,528 728,634 22,794 2,624,956

Additions - - 2,182,084 134,707 98,651 - 2,415,442

Disposals (1,500,000) - - - - - (1,500,000)

Gain on revaluations  - - 381,597 - - - 381,597

Transfers - - (363,681) - - - (363,681)

Balance at 31.3.19 - 273,000 2,200,000 235,235 827,285 22,794 3,558,314

Depreciation

Balance at 1.4.2018 30,000 6,243 - 90,966 611,206 22,794 761,209

Charge for year - 1,365 11,365 14,830 71,632 - 99,192

On disposals (30,000) - - - - - (30,000)

Written back on revaluations  -  - (11,365)  -  -  -  (11,365)

Balance at 31.3.2019 - 7,608 - 105,796 682,838 22,794 819,036

Net book amount

31-Mar-19 - 265,392 2,200,000 129,439 144,447  - 2,739,278

31-Mar-18 1,470,000 266,757 - 9,562 117,428 - 1,863,747

All tangible fixed assets were used for charitable purposes.

During the year the freehold property at Seel Street, Liverpool was sold at the market value of £2.5m, with a gain 
on disposal of £991k. The purchaser agreed to lease the property to PSS (UK) for a six-month term at nil rent. The 
deemed rent for this period was calculated to be £98,750, based on rental yield in the area, and has been recognised 
in the SOFA as charitable expenditure. The same value has been recognised as donation income.

During the year a new leasehold property was purchased at Connect Business Village, 24 Derby Road, Liverpool 
for £1.48m. In January 2019, one sixth of the property was leased to Merseyside Community Rehabilitation 
Company Ltd for a period of four years. Therefore, the fair value of this mixed use property has been separated 
between investment property and property, plant and equipment on a proportional basis, based on floor space.

The leasehold property Eleanor Rathbone House was professionally revalued by CBRE to fair value as at 29 March 
2019. The trustees have deemed that these valuations remain appropriate at 31 March 2019.
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5. Investment property 2019 2018

£ £

Balance at 1.4.2018 - -

Additions 363,681 -

Disposals - -

Gain on revaluations         76,319 -

Balance at 31.3.19 440,000 -

Investment property is included on a fair value basis. An external revaluation was carried out by CBRE, Chartered Surveyors, as at 29 March 2019. 
The trustees have considered the valuations above as a fair reflection of the year end fair value.

6. Fixed asset investments

Unrestricted
Restricted 

(LQV)
Restricted 

(Mountford)
Restricted

(LCWT) Total

£ £ £ £ £

Listed investments:

Market value at 01.4.2018 2,275,316 239,188 76,924 591,731 3,183,159

Legacies - - - - - 

Additions 683,337 55,853 - 68,027 807,217

Disposals (426,338) (52,846) - (73,682) (552,866)

Adjustment to market value 129,913 10,029 - 23,157 163,099

Market value at 31.3.2019 2,662,228 252,224 76,924 609,233 3,600,609

Analysis of quoted investments:

Fixed interest 332,113 62,673 - 86,012 480,798

Ordinary shares - UK 790,491 99,127 - 417,480 1,307,098

Ordinary shares - overseas 1,014,030 69,050 - 96,740 1,179,820

Alternatives 525,594 21,374 - 9,001 555,969

Other investments:

Deposit fund - - 76,924 -        76,924

2,662,228 252,224 76,924 609,233 3,600,609

All the quoted fixed asset investments are listed on a recognised Stock Exchange. The other investments are deposits with the COIF Charities Deposit Fund.

UK Non UK Total

£ £ £

An analysis of the location of investments is as follows:

Listed investments at valuation 2,343,865 1,179,820 3,523,685

Deposit fund         76,924                 -       76,924

At 31 March 2019 2,420,789 1,179,820 3,600,609

At 31 March 2018 2,162,627 1,020,532 3,183,159

The historic cost of listed investments at 31 March 2019 is £2,859,666 (2018: £2,472,327).

There are no individual investments which comprise greater than 5% of the value of the portfolio.

The company has a £1 investment representing 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of PSS Commercial 
Services Limited incorporated in England. The subsidiary has been dormant throughout the year. Consolidated 
accounts have not been prepared on the grounds of materiality. The net assets of the company at the balance 
sheet date were £1.

2019 2018

£ £

If the freehold land and buildings had not been revalued, they would have been included on the 
historical cost basis as follows:

Cost 1,925,404 865,929

Accumulated depreciation        31,500   332,959

Net book value 1,893,904 532,970
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9. Pension obligations

8. Creditors 2019 2018

£ £

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors 82,977 61,585

Other creditors 159,013 155,484

Accruals 518,305 521,783

Deferred income 290,374 270,923

Other taxes and social security 107,094 110,969

Pension creditor 43,854 33,875

Pensions Trust liability: due within a year      140,515      145,621

1,342,132 1,300,240

Amounts falling due after one year

Pensions Trust liability: due greater than a year 819,687 1,194,912

2,161,819 2,495,152

The Pensions Trust Growth Plan: PSS participate in The Pensions Trust Growth Plan, a multi-employer 
defined benefit pension scheme managed by the Pension Trust. Although in most respects this scheme is 
a money purchase arrangement it does have some guarantees which are deemed to be a defined benefit 
pension obligation. It has not been possible to identify the underlying assets and liabilities belonging to the 
charity.

PSS has entered into a funding agreement with The Pensions Trust to contribute towards the scheme deficit 
and recognises a liability for this obligation.

A revaluation of the scheme was undertaken in September 2017, resulting in a decrease in the future deficit 
contributions. The latest actuarial valuation received from The Pensions Trust was based on September 2017 
figures. This showed an overall underfunding level of the scheme standing at 85.8%. 

The results of the revaluation confirmed the requirement for additional contributions to the Growth Plan 
from 1 April 2019 amounting to £167,398 p.a. This value shall increase by 3% p.a. compounded over a period 
of 5 years 10 months. The net present value of future deficit contributions amounts to £960k.

The Pensions Trust Growth Plan 2019 2018

As at 1 April 2018 1,340,533 1,476,587

Charged to SOFA 38,225 42,437

Paid (183,846) (178,491)

Revaluation movement           (234,710)                           -         

At 31 March 2019             960,202         1,340,533

Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund: Following the inception of a new service in 2008 for 
Staffordshire County Council, the company entered into a defined benefit scheme for those employees 
transferred from the previous provider under TUPE arrangements, to the company. The transfer took effect 
from 1 December 2008. In June 2017 our last remaining active employee left the scheme meaning PSS is 
now discharged from any obligations to this Fund by the Administering Authority.

The scheme was the Staffordshire County Pension Fund administered by Staffordshire County Council; PSS 
was part of this pool. Part of the benefits of this pooling arrangement was that PSS would only be responsible 
for making the necessary monthly pension contributions whilst active members remained in the scheme 
and that any assets/liabilities accumulated at the end of the contract would be passed back to Staffordshire 
County Council.

7. Debtors 2019 2018

£ £

Trade debtors 812,657 1,052,619

Other debtors  4,670 5,585

Prepayments and accrued income      490,817     510,490

1,308,144 1,568,694
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A five-year summary is presented below:

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

£ £ £ £ £

Defined benefit obligations - - 919,000 931,000 1,002,000

Scheme assets - - 1,096,000 973,000 970,000

Surplus/(deficit) - - 177,000 42,000 (32,000)

Experience adjustment on scheme assets - - 100,000 (21,000) 76,000

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities - - 159,000 6,000 4,000

2019 2018

£ £

Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the present value of scheme liabilities

Opening scheme liabilities                        - 919,000

Current service costs                        -                        - 

Interest cost                        -                        - 

Members contributions                        -                        - 

Benefits paid                        -                        - 

Total remeasurements recognised                        -                        - 

Adjustment following cessation of participation in scheme                        - (919,000)

Closing scheme liabilities                        -                        - 

Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the present value of scheme assets

Opening fair value of scheme assets                        - 1,096,000

Interest income                        - -

Members contributions                        - -

Employer contribution                        - -

Benefits paid                        - -

Total remeasurements recognised                        - -

Adjustment following cessation of participation in scheme                        - (1,096,000)

Closing fair value of employer assets                        - -

Movements in the asset during the year

Opening net asset                        - 177,000

Current and past service cost                        - -

Contributions                        - -

Total net interest                        - -

Total remeasurements recognised                        - -

Adjustment following cessation of participation in scheme                        - (177,000)

Closing net asset - -

Analysis of the amount credited to finance income

Expected return on pension scheme assets                        - -

Interest on pension scheme liabilities                        - -

Total other finance income                        - -
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10. Reserves
The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising of unexpended balances of donations 
and gains held on trust to be applied for specific purposes.

Movement in funds:

2019
Balance at 

1.4.2018
Incoming 
resources

Expenditure 
and losses

Net incoming
/ (outgoing) 

resources

Realised /
unrealised gains /

losses and transfers
Balance at 

31.3.2019

£ £ £ £ £ £

Restricted funds:

Child Welfare 428,354 3,682 (3,516) 166 23,373 451,893

Mountford Fund 36,223 368 - 368 - 36,591

Liverpool Queen Victoria Fund 268,433 8,293 (4,776) 3,517 13,070 285,020

Other       (42,692)          585,106        (588,017)           (2,911)        82,200           36,597

Total restricted funds 690,318 597,449 (596,309) 1,140 118,643 810,101

General funds:

Fixed asset revaluation 1,203,788 - (830) (830) (555,979) 646,979

General reserve   3,485,845     16,255,120    (15,782,833)        472,287    2,328,386      6,286,518

4,689,633 16,255,120 (15,783,663) 471,457 1,772,407 6,933,497

Total unrestricted funds   4,689,633     16,255,120    (15,783,663)        471,457   1,772,407        6,933,497

Total reserves 5,379,951 16,852,569 (16,379,972) 472,597 1,891,050 7,743,598

2018
Balance at 

1.4.2017
Incoming 
resources

Expenditure 
and losses

Net incoming
/ (outgoing) 

resources

Realised /
unrealised gains /

losses and transfers
Balance at 

31.3.2018

£ £ £ £ £ £

Restricted funds:

Child Welfare 440,975 3,658 (3,320) 338 (12,959) 428,354

Mountford Fund 36,040 183 - 183 - 36,223

Liverpool Queen Victoria Fund 272,872 7,974 (3,377) 4,597 (9,036) 268,433

Other    (20,020)        864,195       (886,867)        (22,672)                    - (42,692)

Total restricted funds 729,867 876,010 (893,564) (17,554) (21,995) 690,318

General funds:

Fixed asset revaluation 1,212,858 - (9,070) (9,070) - 1,203,788

General reserve  3,381,981    13,744,377   (13,415,310)        329,067       (225,203) 3,485,845

4,594,839 13,744,377 (13,424,380) 319,997 (225,203) 4,689,633

Total unrestricted funds 4,594,839    13,744,377 (13,424,380)        319,997 (225,203) 4,689,633

Total reserves 5,324,706 14,620,387 (14,317,944) 302,443 (247,198) 5,379,951
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Fund balances at 31 March 2019 are represented by:

2018
Tangible

fixed assets
Investment

property
Investments at 

market value
Bank

balances
Other assests 
and liabilities Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Restricted funds

Child Welfare - - 591,731 32,361 (195,738) 428,354

Mountford Fund - - 76,924 - (40,701) 36,223

Liverpool Queen Victoria Fund - - 239,188 12,194 17,051 268,433

Other - - - - (42,692) (42,692)

- - 907,843 44,555 (262,080) 690,318

Unrestricted funds

Fixed asset revaluation reserve 1,203,788 - - - - 1,203,788

General reserve 659,959 - 2,275,316 1,214,948 (644,378) 3,485,845

Designated funds - - - - - -

1,863,747 - 2,275,316 1,214,948 (644,378) 4,689,633

1,863,747 - 3,183,159 1,259,503 (926,458) 5,379,951

2019
Tangible

fixed assets
Investment

property
Investments at 

market value
Bank

balances
Other assests 
and liabilities Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Restricted funds

Child Welfare - - 609,233 34,610 (191,950) 451,893

Mountford Fund - - 76,924 - (40,333) 36,591

Liverpool Queen Victoria Fund - - 252,224 10,841 21,955 285,020

Other - -                -                   -           36,597          36,597

- - 938,381 45,451 (173,731) 810,101

Unrestricted funds

Fixed asset revaluation reserve 570,660 76,319 - - - 646,979

General reserve 2,168,618 363,681 2,662,228 1,771,935 (679,944) 6,286,518

Designated funds                  -                    -                -                   -                   -                  -

    2,739,278         440,000    2,662,228       1,771,935       (679,944)      6,933,497

2,739,278 440,000 3,600,609 1,817,386 (853,675) 7,743,598

Purpose of funds

Restricted: Our restricted funds are to be used for detailed purposes as specified by the original objectives of 
those funders detailed below:

•  Child Welfare - to be used for the benefit of children

•  Mountford Fund - to be for used for the benefit of the elderly

•  Liverpool Queen Victoria - to be used for the benefit of the sick.

11. Financial commitments
The charitable company has financial commitments in respect of operating leases as follows:

The charitable company has capital commitments at 31 March 2019 of £Nil (31 March 2018: £Nil) in respect of 
expenditure authorised by the Trustee.

Land and buildings Other

2019 2018 2019 2018

£ £ £ £

Not later than 1 year 97,708 103,070 19,524 18,686

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 19,818 1,510 58,426 3,617

117,526 104,580 77,950 22,303
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12. Related party transactions
During the year £31,815 (2018: £50,078) was paid to Brabners LLP for legal services, this is a law firm in 
which Mark Rathbone (Chair) is a senior partner.   There was £Nil (2018: £Nil) outstanding at 31 March 2019. 
Our Chair, who is an interested party, has excluded himself from any Board decisions to utilise the services 
of Brabners and, at Brabners, is not involved in the provision of any of the services provided by them.

During the year £20,278 (2018: £19,616) was paid to Rathbones Investment Management Ltd for Investment 
Management services. There was £Nil (2018: £Nil) outstanding at 31 March 2019. Our investment manager, 
Julian Rathbone, is the brother of our Chair Mark Rathbone. The appointment of Rathbones Investment 
Management predates the appointment of our Chair who, from time to time will hold shares in Rathbones  
plc, the parent company of Rathbone Investment Management Ltd, as will family members.

During the year a donation of £6,000 (2018: £4,000)  was received from Eleanor Rathbone Charitable Trust, 
a charity for which our Chair, Mark Rathbone, is on the board. There was £Nil (2018: £Nil) outstanding at 31 
March 2019.

During the year £64,969 (2018:£35,160) was paid to Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust for Community 
Engagement salary costs. There was £Nil (2018:£Nil) outstanding at 31 March 2019. Also during the 
year, £67,555 (2018:£86,547) in fee income was received from Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust for a 
Community Engagement service. There was £Nil (2018:£28,849) outstanding at 31 March 2019, which has 
since been paid. The Director of Finance at Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust is the partner of our trustee, 
Samantha Proffitt.

During the year £648 (2018: £Nil) was paid to Bulky Bob’s Office and Commercial Waste, a subsidiary of FRC 
Group. There was £Nil (2018: £Nil) outstanding at 31 March 2019. Our chief executive is a member on the 
board of FRC Group.

psspeople.com
PSS (UK) is a company limited by guarantee, registered in England and Wales (214077) and as a foreign company on the Isle of 
Man (006134F).  A charity registered in England and Wales (224469) and the Isle of Man (1260).  Head office:  Eleanor Rathbone 
House, Connect Business Village, 24 Derby Road, Liverpool, L5 9PR. 
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